# The Contributions of Pubertal Maturation to the Neurobiological Mechanisms of Cognitive and Affective Development

by

## **Orma Ravindranath**

Bachelor of Arts, Washington University in St. Louis, 2015

Master of Science, University of Pittsburgh, 2019

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the

Dietrich School of Arts and Sciences in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2024

#### UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

## DIETRICH SCHOOL OF ARTS AND SCIENCES

This dissertation was presented

by

## Orma Ravindranath

It was defended on

June 2, 2023

and approved by

Michael Pogue-Geile, Professor, Psychology

Jennifer Silk, Professor, Psychology

Anna Marsland, Professor, Psychology

Erika Forbes, Professor, Psychiatry

Committee Chair: Beatriz Luna, Professor, Psychiatry

Copyright © by Orma Ravindranath

2024

# The Contributions of Pubertal Maturation to the Neurobiological Mechanisms of Cognitive and Affective Development

Orma Ravindranath, PhD

University of Pittsburgh, 2024

Puberty, the major biological process defining adolescence, is thought to demarcate a unique period of brain maturation associated with significant cognitive and affective development. Notably, pubertal hormones directly affect the brain through interactions with neurotransmitters including gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), glutamate, and dopamine, particularly in regions that are also key nodes of the brain's cognitive and affective systems, including the hippocampus, striatum, thalamus, and prefrontal cortex (PFC). These neurotransmitters support critical period plasticity in the brain, which facilitates neurocognitive development from adolescence into adulthood. However, while puberty likely contributes to adolescent brain maturation, little is known about the neurobiological mechanisms underlying puberty's influence on cognitive and affective development. This study used a multimodal longitudinal dataset of adolescents ages 10-18 to examine how pubertal development affects cognitive and emotional development, and whether this influence is exerted through neurotransmitters underlying critical period plasticity (GABA, glutamate, and dopamine). Pubertal development was measured using self-reported pubertal stage, with follow-up analyses incorporating testosterone, dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), estradiol, and progesterone as potential hormonal mechanisms. Associations were tested with measures of cognition (antisaccade task), emotion regulation (Behavioral Indicator of Resilience to Distress task), and neurotransmitters across the PFC, striatum, thalamus, and hippocampus (in vivo neuroimaging measures of GABA, glutamate, and dopamine). Pubertal

stage was significantly associated with antisaccade performance and Behavioral Indicator of Resilience to Distress (BIRD) performance, and DHEA was significantly associated with BIRD performance in males only. Principal components analysis identified systematic relationships across neurotransmitters, resulting in three components of combined neurotransmitter function. Pubertal stage was significantly related to the third component, which captured hippocampal GABA levels and anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) GABA/glutamate levels. Follow-up analyses revealed that this component was also associated with progesterone levels in females. However, this component did not mediate relationships between pubertal stage and behavioral performance. These findings suggest a nuanced role of puberty in cognitive and emotional development and provide additional support for puberty's theorized role in demarcating the adolescent critical period of brain development. This study has important implications for future study design, and findings will provide behavioral and neurobiological targets for further examination of pubertal contributions to neurocognitive development.

# **Table of Contents**

Prefacexiii
1.0 Introduction1
1.1 The Current Study2
2.0 Background
2.1 Adolescent Brain Development 4
2.2 Puberty and its Measurement7
2.3 Puberty and Pubertal Hormones in the Brain10
2.4 Puberty and Affective Development17
2.5 Puberty and Cognitive Development 19
3.0 Study Aims
3.1 Aim 1: To characterize the influence of puberty on the development of cognitive and
emotional control
3.2 Aim 2: To investigate associations between puberty and adolescent neurotransmitter
development 24
3.2.1 Aim 2a: To identify shared components of GABA, glutamate, and dopamine
function across cognitive and affective brain regions with high hormone receptor
concentrations24
3.2.2 Aim 2b: To examine associations between puberty and combined
neurotransmitter function25

3.3 Aim 3: To characterize how neurotransmitter development contributes to the
relationship between puberty and the development of cognitive and emotional control
4.0 Methods
4.1 Study Design & Participants27
4.2 Measures
4.2.1 Pubertal Development
4.2.2 Inhibitory Control32
4.2.3 Emotion Regulation33
4.2.4 MR Data: Acquisition and Preprocessing
4.2.4.1 Generating Tissue Iron Data and Defining Tissue Iron ROIs
4.2.4.2 Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopic Imaging (MRSI)
4.2.5 Hormonal Measures
4.3 Statistical Analysis
5.0 Results
5.1 Aim 1
5.2 Aim 2 55
5.3 Aim 3
6.0 Discussion
6.1 Limitations and Future Directions74
7.0 Conclusions and Implications 81
Bibliography

# List of Tables

Table 1: Demographics table showing percentage of study visits by pubertal stage, sex
assigned at birth, race, and income level (N <sub>participants</sub> =101, N <sub>visits</sub> =154)29
Table 2: Descriptive statistics in baseline sample for pubertal stage, age, and all outcome
measures
Table 3: Descriptive statistics across full longitudinal sample for pubertal stage, age, and all
outcome measures
Table 4: Statistical models examining the effects of pubertal stage (with sex assigned at birth
as a covariate) on antisaccade and BIRD performance measures
Table 5: Follow-up statistical models examining the effects of pubertal stage (with age and
sex assigned at birth as covariates) on antisaccade and BIRD performance measures.
Table 6: Descriptive statistics across full sample for pubertal stage, age, and all hormone
measures for males 48
Table 7: Descriptive statistics across full sample for pubertal stage, age, and all hormone
measures for females
Table 8: Statistical models examining associations between age/pubertal stage and all
hormones in males and females separately 49
Table 9: Post hoc statistical models examining the effects of hormones on puberty-associated
antisaccade measures in males and females separately

Table 10: Post hoc statistical models examining the effects of hormones on puberty-
associated antisaccade measures (with pubertal stage as a covariate) in males and
females separately
Table 11: Post hoc statistical models examining associations between BIRD score and self-
report measures of emotion regulation51
Table 12: Post hoc statistical models examining the effects of hormones on puberty-
associated BIRD measures in males and females separately
Table 13: Post hoc statistical models examining the effects of hormones on puberty-
associated BIRD measures (with pubertal stage as a covariate) in males and females
separately55
Table 14: Statistical models examining the effects of puberty (with sex assigned at birth as a
covariate) on principal components of combined neurotransmitter function 59
Table 15: Statistical models examining the effects of puberty (with age and sex assigned at
birth as covariates) on principal components of combined neurotransmitter function.
Table 16: Post hoc statistical models examining the effects of hormones on puberty-
associated third principal component of combined neurotransmitter function in
males and females separately61
Table 17: Post hoc statistical models examining the effects of hormones on puberty-
associated third principal component of combined neurotransmitter function (with
pubertal stage as a covariate) in males and females separately

# List of Figures

Figure 1: Model and paths that were tested across the three study aims
Figure 2: Waterfall plots of individual participants (y-axis) & study visit (x-axis)
distributions by mean pubertal stage (A) and age (B)28
Figure 3: Sample distributions within each racial group by A) mean pubertal stage and B)
age
Figure 4: Sample distributions within each household income group by A) mean pubertal
stage and B) age
Figure 5: Sample distributions across sex assigned at birth by A) mean pubertal stage, and
B) age
Figure 6: A) Visual depication of antisaccade trial design and B) main screen for the
Behavioral Indicator of Resilience to Distress task
Figure 7: GAMM plot of positive association between mean pubertal stage and antisaccade
correct response rate 45
Figure 8: GAMM plot of negative association between mean pubertal stage and antisaccade
response latency
Figure 9: GAMM plot of positive association between mena pubertal stage and BIRD total
score
Figure 10: Line plot of significant increase in self-reported negative affect scores (PANAS)
from before to the end of the BIRD task53
Figure 11: Linear regression plot of negative association between DHEA level and BIRD
score in males

Figure 12: Histogram of adult baseline visits used in neurotransmitter PCA (N=92) 56
Figure 13: Screen plot of principal component eigenvalues from adult neurotransmitter
PCA
Figure 14: Bar graphs of individual measure loadings on each retained component 58
Figure 15: GAMM plot of positive association between mean pubertal stage and the third
principal component of neurotransmitter function
Figure 16: Linear regression plot of positive association between progesterone levels and the
third principal component of neurotransmitter function in females

#### Preface

I would like to thank everyone who has helped me along the path to obtaining my Ph.D. My deepest gratitude to: my husband, who has loved and supported me every day of my time in graduate school; my parents, who have supported me in my academic journey since I was just a child; my sister, who always puts a smile on my face, no matter how difficult things were; my friends, who have always provided space to vent and shoulders to cry on; the members of the Laboratory of Neurocognitive Development, who have been the greatest coworkers and have always been willing to spare their time to lend a helping hand; and finally, my advisor, Dr. Beatriz Luna, who has provided me with countless opportunities and without whom I would not be here.

#### **1.0 Introduction**

Puberty is a major biological process that defines adolescence, a period of significant cognitive and affective development (Geier et al., 2009; Guyer et al., 2016; Luna, 2009), occurring in parallel with specialization of brain processes reflective of critical period plasticity in executive regions (Larsen & Luna, 2018). This is also a time of heightened vulnerability for psychiatric disorders such as mood and anxiety disorders, which are associated with cognitive and affective dysfunction (Castellanos-Ryan et al., 2014; Paus et al., 2008; Pfeifer et al., 2011; Toren et al., 2000). Previous work has demonstrated that pubertal development, including accompanying hormonal changes, may demarcate a period of unique neurocognitive maturation associated with functional changes across both cognitive and affective systems, including in cortical thickness, fronto-subcortical white matter volume, and cortico-subcortical resting state connectivity (Herting et al., 2015, 2017; van Duijvenvoorde et al., 2019), as well as in facial emotion processing (Ferri et al., 2014; Forbes et al., 2011; Moore et al., 2012), reward processing (Forbes et al., 2010; Urošević et al., 2014), and inhibitory control (Ordaz et al., 2018; Ravindranath et al., 2022). Thus, it is important to consider not only the effects of puberty on cognitive and affective systems individually, but also the influence of puberty on both systems together, particularly since their integration undergoes significant specialization through adolescence (Ladouceur, 2012).

Puberty is characterized by substantial increases in gonadal and adrenal hormones, including estradiol, progesterone, dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), and testosterone. These hormones are critical for development of the reproductive system, but also have direct effects on the brain through their interactions with neurotransmitters including gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), glutamate, and dopamine (Micevych & Mermelstein, 2008; Murphy et al., 1998; PurvesTyson et al., 2014; Sinclair et al., 2014). These interactions, as well as the distribution of hormonespecific receptors, have been shown to be concentrated in the amygdala, hippocampus, striatum, thalamus, and prefrontal cortex (PFC) (Beyenburg et al., 2000; Blurton-Jones & Tuszynski, 2002; González et al., 2007; Perlman et al., 2005), regions that are also key nodes of the brain's cognitive and affective systems. Across adolescence, these neurotransmitters are also known to undergo substantial changes in function (Larsen & Luna, 2018) that suggest the presence of critical period plasticity in association cortex, facilitating improvements in and stabilization of cognitive and affective function into adulthood. Based on these findings, it is likely that pubertal hormones contribute to maturational changes within the brain via their actions at hormone receptors in the brain as well as via interactions with these major neurotransmitter systems. However, little is known about these neurobiological mechanisms that may underlie the influence of puberty on the maturation of cognitive and affective function.

#### **1.1 The Current Study**

The current study aimed to fill some of these gaps in the literature by leveraging an existing dataset to understand how puberty affects cognitive and emotional development across adolescence using both self-reported pubertal stage and pubertal hormones as indices of pubertal development. We hypothesized a model in which this influence is exerted through pubertal effects on developmentally-relevant neurotransmitters, including dopamine, GABA, and glutamate. Though evidence supporting some of these associations has been found in prior animal and human research (Forbes et al., 2010, 2011; Piekarski, Boivin, et al., 2017; Purves-Tyson et al., 2012, 2014; Ravindranath et al., 2022; van Duijvenvoorde et al., 2019), this study was uniquely able to assess

multiple mechanisms in order to create a holistic and nuanced understanding of puberty's role in adolescent cognitive and emotional development. Specifically, while much of this research has previously been done in animals, this study examined molecular mechanisms of human brain development in vivo through the use of novel and cutting-edge methodologies, including the estimation of tissue iron using functional magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)-acquired T2\*weighted images as a proxy measurement of subcortical dopamine, the measurement of GABA and glutamate across multiple brain regions with 7T magnetic resonance spectroscopic imaging (MRSI), and the acquisition of pubertal hormone levels from hair samples. Elucidating the relationship between pubertal stage, neurotransmitter function, and behavior through this multimodal approach may be the first step toward uncovering novel markers of risk or intervention targets for neuropsychiatric disorders that emerge during adolescence, many of which are associated with both cognitive and affective dysfunction.

#### 2.0 Background

While critical progress has been made in understanding how pubertal processes support neurocognitive and affective changes across adolescence, the mechanisms that underlie these developmental changes remain obscure. Here, we provide a brief summary of the current literature on adolescence, puberty, cognitive and affective development, and their neurobiological mechanisms.

#### 2.1 Adolescent Brain Development

Adolescence is a developmental period beginning at the onset of puberty and normatively ending around the time when one takes on adult roles and responsibilities into the twenties (Sawyer et al., 2018). This period is characterized by heightened emotional reactivity (Guyer et al., 2016) and availability of prefrontal executive processes that continue to specialize into adulthood (Luna et al., 2015). Studies of these affective and cognitive systems and their integration across adolescence have led to the creation of dual systems models of adolescent development (Luna & Wright, 2016; Shulman et al., 2016; Steinberg, 2008). These models posit that phenotypic adolescent sensation seeking, or the tendency to seek out novel and exciting experiences (Zuckerman, 1971), is driven by overactive affective systems that outweigh and influence executive function abilities until early adulthood when affective system activity attenuates to an optimal balance with prefrontal executive function. While problematic adolescent risk-taking is often attributed to this heightened sensation seeking and lack of reliable executive control (Chambers et al., 2003; Romer & Hennessy, 2007), which can manifest in detrimental substance use and dangerous behaviors resulting in injury and death (Clark et al., 1999; Kann, 2016; Karch et al., 2011; Sells & Blum, 1996; Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, 2009), it also plays an adaptive role in brain development. Specifically, this drive for new experiences may provide vital input needed for the specialization of brain networks and their underlying neurobiological mechanisms (Murty et al., 2016; Romer et al., 2017). Relatedly, protracted PFC maturation suggests the presence of critical period plasticity, a highly experiencedependent developmental process that recent work suggests may be occurring in the PFC during adolescence (Larsen & Luna, 2018; Perica et al., 2022). This period of heightened prefrontal plasticity, in combination with increased exploratory behavior and novel experience afforded by greater independence, allows for significant brain maturation and specialization that shapes the brain for optimal function in adulthood.

Supporting this maturation, dynamic changes in neurotransmitter signaling and function in the brain occur across adolescence. This literature largely consists of animal studies but suggests that the adolescent period is characterized by a peak in certain aspects of dopamine function, a neurotransmitter believed to underlie major cognitive and affective functions such as reward processing and working memory (Kelley & Berridge, 2002; Landau et al., 2009; Sawaguchi & Goldman-Rakic, 1991; Wise, 2004). Specifically, this work has found that dopamine receptor density peaks in mid-adolescence, followed by a peak in dopamine innervation in late adolescence and early adulthood (Lidow et al., 1991; Lidow & Rakic, 1992; Rosenberg & Lewis, 1995). In parallel with the development of dopaminergic function, evidence from postmortem human brains and primate models indicates developmental shifts in key aspects of GABA function, the brain's main inhibitory neurotransmitter, and glutamate function, the primary excitatory neurotransmitter, the balance between which underlies the onset and maintenance of critical period plasticity (Hensch & Fagiolini, 2005; Larsen & Luna, 2018). This body of work implicates dopamine, GABA, and glutamate as key molecular mechanisms driving increased brain plasticity through development. Importantly, not only do these neurotransmitter systems undergo significant maturation during adolescence, but their high concentrations and activity in regions such as the PFC, striatum, thalamus, amygdala, and hippocampus signal their importance in the cognitive and affective circuits formed by these regions.

Interactions across these neurotransmitter systems also play a crucial role in adolescent development. Within the PFC, almost all GABAergic neurons also express dopamine receptors, and many of these neurons are also part of major glutamatergic pathways, such as the hippocampus-PFC brain circuit underlying normative working memory function (Caballero et al., 2016). In addition, the development of frontostriatal dopamine circuitry may play an important role in the initiation of adolescent critical period plasticity, in that increased dopamine release helps to drive the development of specific GABAergic inhibitory neurons in the PFC (Larsen & Luna, 2018). Thus, dopamine facilitates change in the balance of excitation (driven by glutamate) and inhibition (driven by GABA), which may play a role in triggering the opening of the adolescent critical period. The development of these neurotransmitter systems and their interaction is likely a key mechanism in the maturation of essential cognitive and affective processes including inhibitory control, reward processing, emotion regulation, and working memory (Bouarab et al., 2019; Constantinidis & Luna, 2019; Floresco & Magyar, 2006; Gleich, Lorenz, et al., 2015; Glickstein et al., 2005; Goldman-Rakic, 1996; Kilb, 2012; Levar et al., 2017; Mizoguchi et al., 2009; Silveri et al., 2013; Taber et al., 2012; Vlachou & Markou, 2010; Winter et al., 2009). Notably, pubertal processes have also been theorized as a possible trigger opening the adolescent critical period (Larsen & Luna, 2018; Piekarski, Boivin, et al., 2017; Piekarski, Johnson, et al., 2017). However, while a growing body of research exists on the neurobiological mechanisms of adolescent brain and behavioral development, little is known about how puberty contributes to neurodevelopment during this period.

#### 2.2 Puberty and its Measurement

In humans, the earliest phase of pubertal maturation is a process known as adrenarche, defined by the secretion of adrenal androgens, particularly DHEA, around 6 to 8 years of age (Parker, 1991). This initial pubertal process is unique to humans and higher-order primates, making research challenging since much of the existing research on hormones and the brain originated in rodents and other non-primate mammals. Adrenarche is followed a few years later by the onset of gonadarche (Cutler & Loriaux, 1980; Witchel & Topaloglu, 2019), the reactivation of reproductive glands by increased pituitary hormone production, leading to increased levels of circulating gonadal hormones such as estrogen and testosterone.

The process of puberty is known to involve many other growth processes throughout the body that affect most organs and culminate in the full ability to conceive and successfully raise offspring. The onset of adrenarche leads to the beginning of skeletal maturation and the start of pubic hair growth. Following this, gonadarche initiates reproduction-specific maturation including the growth of gonadal organs (testes and ovaries) and secondary sex organs (breast and penis development), as well as gross physical growth including the growth spurt in height and the significant increase in overall body mass. Other related bodily changes that occur throughout puberty include voice deepening and facial hair growth in males, hip growth in females, and increases in skin oil and body hair across sexes. Additionally, the onset of menses (menarche) in females occurs later in puberty and is associated with an increase in progesterone, which fluctuates along with estradiol (the most prominent form of estrogen in the human body) to drive the menstrual cycle (Owen, 1975; Sherman & Korenman, 1975). On average, puberty occurs between one and two years earlier in individuals assigned female at birth compared to those assigned male at birth (Styne et al., 2008; Styne & Grumbach, 2002).

Scientists and clinicians generally quantify progression through puberty using the Sexual Maturity Rating system, also known as Tanner stage (Marshall & Tanner, 1969, 1970). This fivestage rating system uses growth of breasts, testes, penis, and pubic hair to estimate how far an individual has progressed through their pubertal development. Tanner stage 1 is considered "prepubertal", meaning no signs of pubertal development are present thus far. Girls enter Tanner stage 2 when the beginning of breast growth is evident while boys enter Tanner stage 2 when the testes begin to increase in volume. Thus, the transition from Tanner stage 1 to Tanner stage 2 is believed to signify the onset of gonadarche. Peak growth in height and body mass occurs between Tanner stages 2 and 3 for girls and across stage 3 for boys. Menarche is not tied to any specific Tanner stage but tends to occur around two years after the beginning of breast development (Wheeler, 1991). Traditionally, Tanner stage is assessed by a clinician who physically inspects the relevant bodily features. However, other methods of quantifying pubertal development have been created for research purposes that rely on self-report. One example is the use of line drawings to depict growth in the features associated with Tanner stages. Participants are provided with these images and then asked to choose which drawing best matches their own stage of breast/testes/penis/pubic hair development. Another self-report measure is the Pubertal Development Scale (PDS), a two-part questionnaire consisting of a six-item multiple-choice

section asking individuals to rate their level of development in various secondary sex characteristics such as facial hair growth, skin changes, growth in height, and more (Petersen et al., 1988). This scale, which results in a four-point measure of pubertal development, can also be converted using evidence-based formulas into a five-point scale that parallels Tanner stage (Shirtcliff et al., 2009).

More recently, researchers have been obtaining measurements of circulating steroid hormones to gain further insight into pubertal processes. These hormones can be measured using samples of saliva, blood, urine, or hair, depending on the type of measurement needed and logistical considerations. Hair samples are a newer method of obtaining hormone measurements which provide an "average" hormonal level across a period of one to five months depending on the length of hair sampled (Short et al., 2016). Blood, saliva, and urine assays of hormones provide a measurement of hormone levels from the moment that the sample is collected and are thus affected by diurnal and monthly fluctuations in these hormones, making it difficult to acquire a comprehensive and reliable measure. In contrast, the average hormonal levels derived from hair samples provide a more stable measure to identify individual differences in hormone levels as they relate to other variables.

A critical and ongoing dilemma in the study of puberty and brain development is the statistical challenge of separating puberty-specific effects from others associated with chronological age, due to their significant collinearity. Conceptually, it is also important to consider which specific processes underlie developmental effects that are associated with chronological age, since the progression of age encompasses many biological processes, one of which is puberty. Other contributing factors to age-related changes in the brain and behavior include genetic and biological growth programming underlying fundamental human maturational

processes, as well as environmental effects and accumulated experience, which is particularly relevant during adolescence, when key experience-dependent maturational mechanisms such as synaptic pruning and myelination occur in the brain (Petanjek et al., 2011, Yakovlev et al., 1967). While some of these processes may interact with or rely on pubertal development, others may be independent. Indeed, one rodent study aiming to disentangle these age- and puberty-related processes found that pruning of dendritic spines in the frontal cortex was not dependent on gonadal hormones (Boivin et al., 2018), while another found that gonadal hormones are essential to the adolescent increase in inhibitory neurotransmission that triggers critical period plasticity (Piekarski, Boivin, et al., 2017). Thus, additional studies are needed to pinpoint which of the many mechanisms driving adolescent neurocognitive development rely on the biological processes of puberty. Recent and ongoing studies of puberty have attempted to address this question using statistical methods such as including age as a covariate or comparing model fit between models of puberty and those of age (Ojha et al., 2022; Ravindranath et al., 2022; van Duijvenvoorde et al., 2019). However, due to the conceptual overlap between age and puberty and their significant collinearity, these approaches, while valuable, are still limited in their ability to directly isolate the effects of pubertal development. Another novel approach that may more directly assess a specific type of pubertal effect is to examine associations between pubertal hormones and neurocognitive measures.

#### 2.3 Puberty and Pubertal Hormones in the Brain

The hormones of interest in this study – estradiol, testosterone, DHEA, and progesterone – are all not only involved in puberty-related processes but are also steroid hormones that are

synthesized in the brain. These hormones, commonly known as "neurosteroids," have a variety of actions in the brain, including through dedicated hormone receptors in the brain that are concentrated in the hypothalamus, amygdala, hippocampus, striatum, thalamus, and PFC (Aldred & Waring, 1999; Bixo et al., 1995; González et al., 2007; Intlekofer & Petersen, 2011; Meffre et al., 2013; Österlund et al., 1998, 1999, 2000; Österlund & Hurd, 2001; Perlman et al., 2005; Shealy, 1995; Sun et al., 2016). However, their primary effect on neuronal processes is through their modulation of GABA and other neurotransmitter receptors.

Most research on hormones and the brain thus far has used rodent models, as this allows for direct manipulation of hormone levels and subsequent observation of changes in neurotransmitter function. Despite DHEA being the most abundant neurosteroid in the human body, the bulk of this research has been on estradiol, due to its known neuroprotective effects and the relative ease of identifying and labeling estrogen receptors in the brain. While estradiol occurs at higher levels in female mammals, it plays critical roles in the brain across sexes. Estradiol has been found to decrease GABA signaling in hippocampus and striatum (Hu et al., 2006; Murphy et al., 1998) and increase GABA receptor expression in the thalamus (Umorin et al., 2016). Further, estrogen receptors appear to extensively colocalize with GABAergic neurons in the cortex, amygdala, and hippocampus (Blurton-Jones & Tuszynski, 2002, 2006). Similar effects have been found across most of these pubertal hormones. DHEA, testosterone, and progesterone all act as GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor modulators, particularly in the hippocampus, striatum, and thalamus (Baulieu, 1998; Canonaco et al., 1989; Dubrovsky, 2005), such that DHEA metabolite binding lowers GABA sensitivity of neurons (Birzniece et al., 2006; Spivak, 1994), while progesterone and testosterone metabolite binding increases GABAA receptor sensitivity and even acts on extrasynaptic GABA receptors to increase tonic inhibition (Birzniece et al., 2006; Farrant &

Nusser, 2005; Majewska et al., 1986; Reddy & Jian, 2010; Shen et al., 2007). Sex differences in hormonal effects on GABA are thus far difficult to identify since many of these studies include only one sex rather than comparing findings across sexes. However, some rodent research has found sex differences in GABA activity and concentration, such that GABA activity may be greater in the striatum for females and in the PFC for males (Flügge et al., 1986; Ovtscharoff et al., 1992; Willing & Juraska, 2015), which may result from differences in hormonal interactions with GABA receptors. This body of work indicates that while these hormones may vary in how they impact GABAergic neurotransmission, their effects are numerous and significant. Thus, when the concentration of these hormones increases throughout the body during puberty, they may have important contributions to the development of GABAergic inhibitory activity in the brain.

Similarly, these hormones have major modulatory roles in glutamate and dopamine function across the brain. Estradiol, progesterone, and DHEA have all been shown to modulate N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA), but not  $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA), receptor expression and sensitivity, which in turn determines neuronal glutamate sensitivity in the hippocampus, striatum, thalamus, and cortex (Asbury et al., 1998; Cyr et al., 2001; El-Bakri et al., 2004; Gazzaley et al., 1996; Umorin et al., 2014, 2016; Weiland, 1992; Woolley et al., 1997). This hormonal influence is particularly significant since NMDA receptors are the glutamate receptor type believed to be a critical component of cortical circuitry development through their distinct role in experience-dependent plasticity (Feldman & Knudsen, 1998). Furthermore, estradiol and DHEA have been found to increase glutamate release in the hippocampus (Dong et al., 2007; Meyer et al., 2002), decrease glutamate levels in the thalamus (Naderi et al., 2014), and regulate glutamate uptake (Liang et al., 2002). Notably, DHEA modulation of glutamate release is believed to occur through activation of dopamine receptors,

one of many examples of how the actions of steroid hormones and neurotransmitters within the brain are heavily intertwined (Zheng, 2009). Similar to GABA, sex differences in these interactions between glutamate and pubertal hormones have not been adequately studied, but some human research on glutamate alone may indicate higher levels of cortical glutamate in those assigned male at birth and greater glutamate concentrations in subcortical structures of those assigned female at birth (Hädel et al., 2013; O'Gorman et al., 2011; Zahr et al., 2013; Zlotnik et al., 2011). Thus, neurosteroids during puberty may significantly affect glutamatergic signaling in the brain and influence the glutamate-based processes that underlie adolescent cortical development.

Associations with dopamine activity seem to vary dramatically across hormones. While estradiol has been shown to increase dopamine turnover in the striatum, DHEA has been found to decrease striatal dopamine turnover (Di Paolo et al., 1985; Pérez-Neri et al., 2008). Estradiol also shows sexually dimorphic effects on striatal dopamine receptor binding in rats, with decreases in females, but increases in males – while similar amounts of progesterone do not show these effects (Bazzett & Becker, 1994). Similarly, estradiol, but not progesterone, has been found to inhibit dopamine transporter activity (Disshon et al., 1998) and increase thalamic dopamine receptor expression (Apostolakis et al., 1996) in female rats. In addition, both testosterone and DHEA metabolites have been found to increase tyrosine hydroxylase expression, the rate-limiting enzyme in dopamine synthesis (Abreu et al., 1988; Charalampopoulos et al., 2005), and testosterone may actually induce greater dopamine synthesis in the striatum of male rats (Purves-Tyson et al., 2012, 2014). While there is slightly more research on sex difference in hormonal effects on dopamine, this literature is still highly limited. However, studies examining sex differences in dopamine itself generally suggest greater striatal levels of dopamine and dopamine transporter availability in female rats and participants assigned female at birth (Bhatt & Dluzen, 2005; Hsiao et al., 2013; Lavalaye et al., 2000; Staley et al., 2001; Varrone et al., 2013). These findings, though inconsistent, suggest that there are definitive mechanisms through which neurosteroids influence the dopamine system, although the nature of that influence is still unclear.

While human studies cannot test the effects of hormones on neurotransmitters as directly as animal studies, a body of prior literature does imply that hormones can significantly affect neurotransmitter activity and related brain functions in humans. This research examines these effects by either measuring hormone levels or administering supplemental hormones and correlating these measures with behaviors known to be strongly driven by specific neurotransmitters (i.e., dopamine and working memory) or with neurotransmitter levels as measured by Positron Emission Tomography or magnetic resonance spectroscopy, an MRI method allowing for the quantification of neurotransmitters and their metabolites noninvasively in vivo. A number of human studies have shown significant associations between estradiol levels in participants assigned female at birth and performance in dopamine-dependent cognitive functions such as working memory, spatial memory, and learning, suggesting a strong link between estradiol and dopamine (Bimonte & Denenberg, 1999; Hampson & Morley, 2013; Joseph et al., 2012; Nguyen et al., 2019). Similarly, testosterone levels have been consistently correlated with sensation seeking, another dopamine-driven behavior, in individuals assigned male at birth (Campbell et al., 2010; Gerra et al., 1999; O'Carroll, 1984; Zuckerman et al., 1980). These findings imply that estradiol and testosterone may interact with dopamine in the brain to affect these dopamine-dependent behaviors.

In addition, a variety of emotion and psychopathology literature also supports the notion that pubertal hormones strongly influence neurotransmitter activity. Progesterone, testosterone, and DHEA have all been associated with anxiety, both through correlations between endogenous hormone levels and symptoms, as well as based on observed anxiolytic effects following hormonal treatment (Brambilla et al., 2005; Hermans et al., 2006, 2007; Jin, 2019; Söderpalm et al., 2004; Söndergaard et al., 2002; Strous et al., 2003). Other correlational studies of testosterone and GABA measurements derived from magnetic resonance spectroscopy have found that greater serum testosterone is associated with greater GABA levels in the posterior cingulate cortex, while exogenous testosterone treatment is associated with reduced GABA levels in the hippocampus (Flores-Ramos et al., 2019; Spurny-Dworak et al., 2022). Moreover, there is a fairly significant body of literature examining the effects of low endogenous estradiol and estradiol supplementation on mood and anxiety, though this has resulted in mixed findings (Baca-Garcia et al., 2010; Bernardi et al., 1989; Cover et al., 2014; Lebron-Milad et al., 2012; Morrison et al., 2004; Rubinow et al., 2015). This research suggests that pubertal hormones are related to the regulation of mood and anxiety, although the extent and exact mechanisms of their effects are still unclear. Additionally, neuroimaging studies have found that levels of estradiol, progesterone, and testosterone are significantly associated with brain activity in regions widely associated with higher-order cognitive and affective functions, including the amygdala, anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), and inferior frontal gyrus (Manuck et al., 2010; Toffoletto et al., 2014; van Wingen et al., 2009), further implicating these hormones in the integration of cognitive and affective brain systems.

These studies examining the behavioral correlates of hormones in humans are becoming more abundant, but it can be difficult to synthesize their findings due to inconsistent results, varying methods, and a dearth of research in certain areas. This may be because, as rodent studies have shown and some of the human studies above have implied, most hormonal action in the brain occurs through neurotransmitters and their receptors. Thus, individual differences in these neurotransmitters may interact with hormonal effects on the brain, making the nature of these effects difficult to ascertain. For example, some notable human research examining the effects of estradiol on cognition has shown that these effects may be dependent on baseline dopamine availability (Jacobs & D'Esposito, 2011). Given that the relationship between dopamine and cognitive function follows an inverted-U-shaped curve with too little or too much dopamine associated with poorer cognition (Goldman-Rakic, 1998), this evidence suggests that higher levels of estradiol may be associated with improved working memory performance in individuals with low baseline dopamine availability, while higher estradiol levels may impair performance in individuals with optimal or high levels of baseline dopamine availability (Colzato & Hommel, 2014; Hidalgo-Lopez & Pletzer, 2017). It seems likely that similar patterns may be present for other combinations of hormones and neurotransmitters, or even that multiple hormones and neurotransmitters may be interacting to affect a single brain function. Currently, there is functionally no literature on associations between pubertal development and the development of GABA, glutamate, and dopamine brain systems in humans, though some work on related processes, such as the reward literature summarized later, may provide early insight into these effects. Thus, considering the influence of puberty and pubertal hormones on these interrelated neurotransmitter systems and their development may be a critical next step toward understanding how hormones affect the adolescent brain.

#### 2.4 Puberty and Affective Development

It has been established that puberty is associated with an increase in emotional distress (Forbes et al., 2004; Ge et al., 2006; Mendle, 2014; Oldehinkel et al., 2011; Silk et al., 2011), which is likely related to the increased prevalence of mood and anxiety disorders after pubertal onset (Angold et al., 1998; Kessler & Walters, 1998; Lewinsohn et al., 1998; Weissman & Olfson, 1995). There is also a wealth of literature that has associated early and late pubertal onset with elevated depressive symptoms, heightened aggression, disordered eating behaviors, and greater externalizing symptoms (Ge et al., 1996, 2003; Ge & Natsuaki, 2009; Kaltiala-Heino et al., 2001, 2003; Mendle et al., 2010; White et al., 2012). Thus, puberty likely plays a key role in affective development. While we have already discussed some direct effects of hormones on affective dysfunction in adults, there is also a growing body of literature on the effects of pubertal development and hormones during this period on affective development. One study found that adolescents in mid-to-late puberty rated themselves as more emotional than pre-pubertal or earlypubertal adolescents and exhibited greater pupil reactivity, a measure representing cognitive and affective load, in response to emotional words (Silk et al., 2009), suggesting that emotional reactivity increases as a function of pubertal development, possibly prior to the stabilization of pubertal hormones.

In the brain, more advanced pubertal maturation has been associated with lower amygdala reactivity to emotionally neutral faces (Ferri et al., 2014; Forbes et al., 2011) but greater amygdala, hippocampus, and visual cortex activation in response to emotional faces (Moore et al., 2012; Vijayakumar et al., 2019) and greater amygdala and ventral striatum reactivity to opposite-sex emotional faces, compared to same-sex faces (Telzer et al., 2015). These findings may reflect that greater integration of amygdala circuitry occurs during adolescent affective development, which

likely supports improvements in facial emotion recognition that appear in mid-to-late puberty (Lawrence et al., 2015). Additionally, adolescents assigned female at birth demonstrate significantly greater emotion recognition abilities than those assigned male at birth prior to puberty but this gap in ability closes substantially by mid-to-late puberty (Lawrence et al., 2015). These differences may be driven by distinct developmental trajectories of relevant brain regions such as the ACC, ventromedial PFC, striatum, and lateral PFC (Vijayakumar et al., 2019).

While emotion regulation ability is highly relevant to increases in emotional reactivity and related disorders during puberty and adolescence, studies thus far examining the specific relationship between pubertal mechanisms and emotion regulation are minimal. In adults assigned female at birth, both endogenous and exogenous estradiol have been associated with more effective emotion regulation, as well as lower orbitofrontal cortex and hippocampus activation, and greater superior frontal gyrus and dorsomedial PFC activation during regulation (Graham et al., 2017; Rehbein et al., 2021). However, one study also found that higher endogenous estradiol was correlated with increased maladaptive emotion regulation strategies such as rumination (Graham et al., 2018). In addition, progesterone metabolite and DHEA administration have both been associated with lower amygdala activity and greater amygdala connectivity during emotion regulation in participants assigned male at birth (Sripada, Marx, King, Rajaram, et al., 2013; Sripada, Marx, King, Rampton, et al., 2013). In adolescents, higher estradiol and testosterone have both been associated with greater PFC activity during emotion regulation, or a more adult-like pattern of activation suggesting top-down control of emotions (Chung et al., 2019; Tyborowska et al., 2016). Notably, adolescents with lower testosterone levels displayed greater amygdala and striatal activation (Tyborowska et al., 2016), a bottom-up pattern of activation characteristic of children. Additionally, pubertal timing is related to both levels of self-reported rumination and

depressive symptoms (Alloy et al., 2016) and more advanced pubertal maturation has been found to moderate the association between low sleep quality and greater emotion regulation difficulties (Lustig et al., 2021) in adolescents assigned female at birth. Many of these studies only included participants in one sex category, making it difficult to understand how sex differences may affect these associations, but thus far, findings suggest that while there may be differences in emotion processing and its neurobiological correlates, the effects of hormones on emotion processing and regulation may be more consistent across sexes. The research on puberty and affective development, while sparse, suggests that pubertal processes, including pubertal hormones and their effects on the brain, may drive significant aspects of emotion regulation development.

These results suggest that puberty is a unique period where affective circuitry undergoes significant maturation underlying increased sensitivity to affective events and stimuli in adolescence, which may define the developmental trajectory of emotion regulation. Furthermore, this role of puberty in the development of emotion regulation suggests that pubertal hormones and related biological mechanisms may be critical for the maturation of top-down cognitive regulation of affective processes and thus, the integration of cognitive and affective systems across the transition from adolescence to adulthood.

#### **2.5 Puberty and Cognitive Development**

The research examining behavioral associations between puberty and cognitive development is far less substantial. Only a handful of studies exist, largely focused on inhibitory control development. One study of antisaccade task performance found an association between decreasing response latency and pubertal maturation in participants assigned female at birth but no association with antisaccade correct response rate (Ordaz et al., 2018). This study also found a significant association between estradiol levels and response latency, which may underlie the association with pubertal stage. Another study replicated this association between pubertal stage and response latency in the antisaccade task across sexes, and found related pubertal associations with ventrolateral PFC activation and task-related connectivity (Ravindranath et al., 2022). Another study also using the antisaccade task found that above and beyond age effects, pubertal stage was associated with developmental change in frontostriatal resting state functional connectivity, correct responses, and latency (Ojha et al., 2022). In addition, a study of inhibitory control using the Stroop task found that more advanced pubertal maturation was related to both greater cortical activation during high cognitive load and lower activation during low cognitive load across sexes (Schulte et al., 2020), while another study using drift-diffusion modeling showed that the interaction between puberty and sex assigned at birth predicts the amount of information considered for a decision during an inhibitory control task (Castagna & Crowley, 2021). Furthermore, a study of puberty and executive function found that earlier pubertal maturation may relate to greater improvements in attentional skills across sexes, but worse self-control in participants assigned female at birth only (Chaku & Hoyt, 2019). Together, these results suggest that while cognitive abilities such as inhibitory control mature and stabilize across the adolescent transition to adulthood, puberty may play a specific role in the maturation of processes underlying fast and flexible engagement of systems needed to generate an executive response independently of the relevant cognitive ability itself. Importantly, this shows that puberty has distinct associations with affective processes and cognitive abilities.

#### 3.0 Study Aims

This project aimed to longitudinally characterize the role of puberty in cognitive and affective development, and to explore the differential contribution of pubertal processes across these systems. While some past studies have investigated contributions of puberty to cognitive and affective function, we began to extend the literature by examining the mechanisms underlying these relationships, including hormones and relevant neurotransmitters, as well as testing comprehensive models of associations between puberty, neurotransmitters, and both cognitive and emotional function (Figure 1). We hypothesized a model in which puberty plays distinct roles in the development of cognitive and emotional control systems (Aim 1) and key neurotransmitter systems (Aim 2). Furthermore, we posited that puberty exerts its influence on the development of cognitive and emotional control through its effects on neurotransmitter function (Aim 3). In this study, we focused on neurotransmitters in the PFC, hippocampus, thalamus, and striatum because these brain regions are major nodes of the brain's cognitive and affective systems and, along with the hypothalamus and amygdala, are believed to contain the greatest concentrations of steroid hormone receptors. Thus, these regions are most likely to undergo direct changes as a result of the hormone surges that occur during puberty. Furthermore, the existing literature thus far, as summarized above, has provided substantial evidence of puberty- and hormone-related changes across these brain regions.

We leveraged an innovative accelerated longitudinal dataset using task-based measures to assess cognitive and emotional development as well as high-field-strength neuroimaging to precisely characterize prefrontal and subcortical GABA and glutamate levels obtained using 7T MRSI, in addition to dopamine availability in the dorsal striatum and thalamus obtained indirectly



using MRI measures of tissue iron (Larsen et al., 2020). We also employed mul-

Figure 1: Model and paths that were tested across the three study aims. (GABA: gamma-aminobutyric acid, Glu: glutamate, DA: dopamine, Caud: caudate, Thal: thalamus, Put: putamen, DLPFC: dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, MPFC: medial prefrontal cortex, aHPC: anterior hippocampus, pHPC: posterior hippocampus, BIRD: Behavioral Indicator of Resilience to Distress)

tiple measures of pubertal development to comprehensively examine associations between puberty and neurocognitive development. Critically, self-report measures of pubertal stage are best used with multiple individual timepoints, allowing pubertal progression to be assessed relative to individual developmental trajectories. Indeed, when the PDS was initially validated, the authors recommended that use of the measure be limited to longitudinal studies or cross-sectional studies in which a rough measure (early or late) is sufficient (Petersen et al., 1988). Thus, longitudinal assessment of self-reported pubertal stage is better suited to statistical methods of disentangling effects of chronological age from pubertal effects, such as including age as a covariate. Because longitudinal data points in this study were limited, we took an alternative approach to isolating pubertal effects from other age-related developmental influences by incorporating measures of pubertal hormone levels using hair samples (Wang et al., 2019, 2020). By directly quantifying hormones as specific mechanisms of pubertal development, these hormones can be examined in relation to cognitive, emotional, and neurotransmitter development in order to determine whether associations with pubertal stage might be specific to puberty. Importantly, as noted throughout the reviewed literature above, most existing research on hormones and the brain has restricted samples to a single sex category, limiting the ability to consider sex differences in these effects. Thus, these hormone analyses are conducted in participants assigned both male and female at birth individually wherever possible to allow for comparison of these associations.

# 3.1 Aim 1: To characterize the influence of puberty on the development of cognitive and emotional control.

We examined associations between pubertal measures (pubertal stage and pubertal hormones) and cognitive and emotional control using two representative behavioral tasks. For cognitive control, the antisaccade task was used as a measure of inhibitory control, while emotional control was characterized using the Behavioral Indicator of Resilience to Distress (BIRD) task, which requires negative emotion regulation to maintain optimal task performance. Post hoc analyses were conducted examining the relationship between puberty and self-report measures of emotion regulation to clarify whether significant associations between puberty and the BIRD task were specific to emotion regulation ability. Based on prior literature that has examined associations
between puberty and inhibitory control (Ordaz et al., 2018; Ravindranath et al., 2022), we hypothesized that pubertal measures would be negatively associated with antisaccade response latency, such that increasing pubertal stage (and pubertal hormones) would be associated with faster response latency; however, pubertal measures would not be significantly associated with correct antisaccade response rate. We also hypothesized that based on the extant literature showing increased emotion reactivity and immature emotional control in adolescence (Ahmed et al., 2015; Crone & Dahl, 2012; Guyer et al., 2016; Pfeifer & Blakemore, 2012; Pitskel et al., 2011), pubertal measures would also be associated with BIRD task performance such that increasing pubertal stage and pubertal hormones would be associated with improvements in BIRD task performance (better performance and faster responses) and decreasing change in self-reported negative affect across the task.

# 3.2 Aim 2: To investigate associations between puberty and adolescent neurotransmitter development.

# 3.2.1 Aim 2a: To identify shared components of GABA, glutamate, and dopamine function across cognitive and affective brain regions with high hormone receptor concentrations.

Next, we characterized the molecular mechanisms that might underlie cognitive and emotional control. Based on findings that pubertal hormones primarily affect the brain through the modulation of GABA, glutamate, and dopamine receptors and that these neurotransmitters underlie adolescent critical period plasticity, we performed a principal components analysis (PCA) to test for shared variance between GABA, glutamate, and dopamine in regions with high concentrations of both pubertal hormones and these neurotransmitter receptors, including the PFC (GABA and glutamate), dorsal striatum (GABA, glutamate, and dopamine), thalamus (GABA, glutamate, and dopamine), and the hippocampus (GABA and glutamate). This will indicate components of shared variance among these neurotransmitter measures, suggesting patterns of combined neurotransmitter function in the brain. Based on substantial evidence of prefrontal glutamate's essential role in regulating striatal dopamine function (Adrover et al., 2020; Ferenczi et al., 2016; Gleich, Deserno, et al., 2015), we hypothesized that a component would be retained including striatal dopamine and frontal glutamate. Additionally, due to research suggesting that prefrontal excitation-inhibition balance may underlie plasticity and optimal cognitive function (Jocham et al., 2012; Lam et al., 2022; Sprekeler, 2017), while sustained imbalance may confer vulnerability to psychiatric illness (Howes & Shatalina, 2022; Sohal & Rubenstein, 2019), we hypothesized that another component would be retained capturing GABA and glutamate across the PFC.

# 3.2.2 Aim 2b: To examine associations between puberty and combined neurotransmitter function.

We then examined associations between pubertal measures and combined neurotransmitter function, as represented by the components derived from the PCA in Aim 2a. While there is no prior literature to indicate how pubertal development might affect these neurotransmitters, there is evidence suggesting that pubertal hormones affect these neurotransmitters directly within the brain. Thus, based on the significant developmental change that occurs in dopamine across the striatum and glutamate in the PFC during adolescence (Larsen et al., 2020; Parr et al., 2021; Perica et al., 2022), we hypothesized that puberty would be related to glutamate-dopamine combined function across the striatum and PFC. Drawing on findings that have shown changes in the balance of excitation and inhibition in association cortex during adolescence (Larsen et al., 2021; Perica et al., 2022), we also hypothesized that puberty would be related to GABA-glutamate combined function in the PFC. These hypothesized findings would suggest that pubertal mechanisms, including direct effects of pubertal hormones in the brain, may underlie key neurotransmitter development in adolescence.

# **3.3** Aim **3**: To characterize how neurotransmitter development contributes to the relationship between puberty and the development of cognitive and emotional control.

Finally, we applied mediation models, with combined neurotransmitter function (as measured by neurotransmitter principal components derived in Aim 2a) mediating the relationship between pubertal development and cognitive and emotional control. Throughout all analyses, we also tested models with age as a covariate as one tool to understand if puberty-related effects are substantial and unique enough to be statistically separated from other developmental processes that might be captured by age. Combined neurotransmitter function mediating the influence of puberty on cognitive and/or emotional control would suggest that one way that puberty exerts its effects on adolescent behavioral development is through its effects on the development of neurotransmitter systems, likely because of its role as a trigger for adolescent critical period plasticity. These findings will provide mechanistic evidence of the role of puberty in developmental changes across these critical domains in adolescence.

#### 4.0 Methods

## 4.1 Study Design & Participants

This project utilized a developmental neuroimaging dataset from an ongoing accelerated longitudinal study. The initial sample was recruited based on a uniform age distribution, spanning early adolescence to adulthood (10-30 years old), with equal representation of sex assigned at birth within each age bin. Participants were recruited from the community using flyers, mass emails, and the University of Pittsburgh's research participant database. Following the completion of an online screening questionnaire, potential participants were excluded if they reported that they or a first-degree relative had been diagnosed with a psychiatric or neurological disorder, or if they reported MRI contraindications such as metal in the body. Following the first behavioral study visit, participants were additionally excluded if they scored above clinical cutoffs for any symptom scales on the Child Behavioral Checklist (CBCL; subjects < 11 years old) (Achenbach, 2001), Youth Self-Report (YSR; subjects 11-18 years old) (Achenbach, 1991) or Adult Self-Report (ASR; subjects > 18 years old) (Achenbach & Rescorla, 2003) assessments, or if their estimated IQ was below 80 based on the Reynolds Intellectual Screening Test (Reynolds & Kamphaus, 2005). Two participants were dropped from the study after completing one or more parts of the initial baseline visit due to a psychiatric diagnosis discovered later and an ASR score above clinical cutoffs, so their data was excluded from all analyses. After the initial baseline visit, participants completed up to two 18-month follow-up visits. Participants were excluded from follow-up visits if they had been diagnosed with a psychiatric or neurological disorder since their previous study visit or if they scored above clinical cutoffs for any of the symptom scales on the CBCL, ASR, or YSR.

The final adolescent sample included 101 participants (48 assigned female at birth) at baseline with 1-3 visits each for a total of 154 study visits (mean visits=1.42, 42 participants with 2 visits, 11 participants with 3 visits, Figure 2, Table 1), although sample sizes and distributions varied across measures as a function of data quality exclusions (sample sizes for each analysis are included in statistical tables). No significant differences were found in age or pubertal stage by self-reported race (Figure 3A and B) or income group across the full sample (Figure 4A and B). There was an expected significant difference in pubertal stage by sex assigned at birth, such that those assigned female at birth were generally more pubertally advanced than those assigned male at birth (Figure 5A). However, since this sample was recruited with the goal of equally distributed sex assigned at birth across age, there was no significant difference in age by sex assigned at birth (Figure 5B). Please note that in all sections that follow, "male" refers to assigned male at birth and "female" refers female otherwise specified. to assigned at birth, unless



Figure 2: Waterfall plots of individual participants (y-axis) & study visit (x-axis) distributions by mean pubertal stage (A) and age (B).

The University of Pittsburgh's Institutional Review Board approved this study. Adult participants provided informed consent. For minors, parents provided informed consent and youth (10 to 17-years-old) provided assent. All participants were compensated for completing research assessments.

Variable	N (visits)	Percent
Mean Pubertal Stage		
1	11	7.14
2	28	18.18
3	34	22.08
4	58	37.66
5	20	12.99
Sex Assigned at Birth		
Male	77	50.00
Female	77	50.00
Race		
Asian	2	1.30
Black	33	21.43
Multi	39	25.32
White	77	50.00
Unspecified	3	1.95
Income Level		
<\$100,000	27	17.53
\$100,000-\$200,000	42	27.27
\$200,000-\$300,000	26	16.88
<\$300,000	24	15.58
Unspecified	35	22.73

Table 1: Demographics table showing percentage of study visits by pubertal stage, sex assigned at birth, race,

and income level (N<sub>participants</sub>=101, N<sub>visits</sub>=154)



Figure 3: Sample distributions within each racial group by A) mean pubertal stage and B) age.



Figure 4: Sample distributions within each household income group by A) mean pubertal stage and B) age.



Figure 5: Sample distributions across sex assigned at birth by A) mean pubertal stage, and B) age.

#### 4.2 Measures

#### **4.2.1 Pubertal Development**

Pubertal stage was assessed based on two self-report questionnaires, which were administered to all participants under the age of 18 at the time of their study visit. The first questionnaire is a pictorial Tanner staging questionnaire (Morris & Udry, 1980), in which line drawings of breast development, pubic hair growth, testes/scrotum/penis development, and testicular size are provided for the five Tanner stages. Participants are asked to select the drawing that best corresponds with their own current level of development, which generates an overall Tanner score for the individual. The second questionnaire is the PDS (Petersen et al., 1988), in which participants are asked questions about the development of various primary and secondary sexual characteristics (i.e., body hair growth, skin changes, height growth) and choose from several options along the lines of "has not yet started growing", "has barely started growing", "is definitely underway", and "seems completed". The scoring of this questionnaire provides a pubertal stage measurement on a four-point scale, which was converted to a five-point scale analogous to Tanner Stage using a previously-created evidence-based coding mechanism (Shirtcliff et al., 2009). For this study, the five-point PDS score and the Tanner score were averaged to create a Mean Pubertal Stage measure that was used to represent pubertal status based on physical development in all analyses (Ravindranath et al., 2022). We chose to use mean pubertal stage due to the high correlation between these measures (r=0.867) and wide use of both measures across the literature, indicating no data- or hypothesis-driven reason to choose one over the other. Furthermore, these measures have been combined in previous work (Barendse et al., 2022; Ellis et al., 2011; Ladouceur et al., 2019; Ravindranath et al., 2022) and a prior study showed strong agreement between these measures within each stage (Bond et al., 2006). Further, since pubertal stage is a subjective measure that is difficult to quantify, utilizing all available information is likely to produce the best possible estimate of true pubertal stage.

#### 4.2.2 Inhibitory Control

Performance from an antisaccade task was included as a measurement of inhibitory control (Figure 6A). Outside of the scanner, participants completed one 48-trial run of an antisaccade task to assess inhibitory control (Hwang et al., 2010; Ordaz et al., 2013; Velanova et al., 2008, 2009). Intertrial intervals (ITI, 0.5-6 seconds) in this task are pseudo-randomly distributed to permit estimation of trial-related activation (Dale, 1999). Each trial begins as participants fixate on a red crosshair for the length of the ITI. The crosshair then disappears for 200 milliseconds followed by the appearance of the target stimulus, a yellow circle, which appears at one of six horizontal eccentricities ( $\pm 3^\circ$ ,  $6^\circ$ , or  $9^\circ$ ) for one second. Participants are instructed to inhibit the reflexive saccade toward the target and to look instead to its horizontal mirror location, after which a blank screen appears for 20 milliseconds before the fixation crosshair returns.

Eye movement measurements were obtained during the performance of this task using a desk-mounted eye-tracking system (EYE-TRAC®6 Series, Applied Science Laboratories) with a sampling rate of 60 Hz. At the beginning of the session, a nine-point calibration was performed to ensure stable and accurate eye tracking across the task run. Scoring algorithm thresholds for correct responses were set to best align with manual scoring, such that trials in which the first eye movement after target stimulus appearance with velocity greater than or equal to 30°/second was toward the mirror location of the target stimulus were considered correct. Trials in which no saccade was recorded, a blink occurred before the first saccade or within 60 milliseconds of target stimulus appearance, or eye tracking quality was too poor were dropped from analyses. Subject visits were only included in analyses if they retained at least 25% of antisaccade trials. Correct response rate was calculated as the ratio of correct response trials to the total number of usable trials, and response latency was calculated as the mean response latency across all correct trials. It

should be noted that the number of dropped trials per visit was significantly associated with pubertal stage ( $\beta$ =-0.191, p<0.05) but all models examining antisaccade performance metrics were rerun with number of dropped trials as a covariate, and significant findings did not change.



Figure 6: A) Visual depication of antisaccade trial design and B) main screen for the Behavioral Indicator of Resilience to Distress task.

# 4.2.3 Emotion Regulation

Performance metrics from the Behavioral Indicator of Resilience to Distress (BIRD) task were used as a measure of emotion regulation ability (Figure 6B). A screen with ten boxes is shown and a dot appears in random boxes one at a time. Participants must click the box before the dot disappears in order to earn points. The duration that the dot remains in each box changes based on the participant's performance and increases in difficulty throughout three levels in order to induce frustration in the participant. During the third level, participants have the option to quit the task but are warned that quitting will result in lower compensation. Preliminary analyses in our data as well as previous studies have shown that this task reliably increases negative affect in both adolescents and adults (Amstadter et al., 2012; Ravindranath, 2019). In addition, affective state was assessed using the Positive and Negative Affective Schedule (PANAS) (Watson et al., 1988) before the task and between the second and third levels, providing a measure of negative affective reactivity. Difference scores derived from the PANAS were also analyzed as a measure of the ability to regulate changes in affect during a distressing task.

Scores from two questionnaires were additionally included as post hoc measures of selfreported emotion regulation ability. The Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale (DERS) (Gratz & Roemer, 2004) asks participants to rate the applicability of 36 statements about how they relate to their feelings on a five-point Likert scale. This questionnaire yields a total score, with higher scores indicating more emotion regulation issues, and six subscale scores, including lack of emotional awareness, lack of emotional clarity, limited access to emotion regulation strategies, and others. The second questionnaire is the Distress Tolerance Scale (DTS) (Simons & Gaher, 2005), in which participants rate how strongly they agree with 16 statements about how they react to distress on a five-point Likert scale. This yields one total score, with higher scores indicating greater distress tolerance, and four subscale scores, including the ability to tolerate distress, subjective appraisal of one's distress, absorption of attention by negative emotion, and effort dedicated toward alleviating distress.

The measures of BIRD task performance used in this study, total score and average latency on correct trials, have not been used in previous literature, but earlier work from our lab found that total score was significantly associated with both DERS and DTS score in our full sample (J. Pan, 2019), suggesting that this score may capture the ability to regulate emotions in order to perform optimally in a distressing situation. Further, the BIRD latency measure was derived specifically from correct trials in the second half of the second level and the entire third level, the period of the task that actively induces distress. Thus, this latency measure also reflects performance optimization during a time of high distress. Importantly, because general reaction time also improves significantly across childhood and adolescence, each participant's base reaction time was calculated based on their performance in the first level of the task, prior to the onset of the difficult, more distressing trials, and this base reaction time was used as a covariate in all analyses of BIRD latency. This allowed us to separate developmental effects on general processing speed from possible developmental effects on reaction time specific to emotion regulation within the context of the BIRD task.

## 4.2.4 MR Data: Acquisition and Preprocessing

Data was acquired on a 7T Siemens Magnetom MRI scanner. Structural images were acquired using an MP2RAGE T1-weighted acquisition (1.0mm isotropic resolution, TR = 6000ms; TE = 2.87 ms; flip angle  $1 = 4^{\circ}$ , flip angle  $2 = 5^{\circ}$ ). Functional images were acquired using a 3D blood oxygenation level dependent (BOLD) echo-planar imaging sequence (TR = 2180 ms; TE = 23 ms; flip angle = 7°; voxel size =  $2.0 \times 2.0 \times 2.0$  mm). The resting state acquisition included 220 volumes, for a total duration of eight minutes (eyes open, blank screen). Structural MRI data preprocessing included skull stripping and warping to the MNI standard brain using both linear (FLIRT) and non-linear (FNIRT) transformations (Jenkinson et al., 2012). Functional images were processed using a pipeline previously developed by our group to reduce the effects of head motion (Hallquist et al., 2013), including 4D slice-timing and head motion correction (Gorgolewski et al., 2011), wavelet despiking (Patel et al., 2014), co-registration to the structural image and non-linear warping to MNI space (Avants et al., 2011; Jenkinson et al., 2012), local spatial smoothing with a 4mm Gaussian kernel, intensity normalization, and nuisance regression based on head motion (based on six degrees of freedom motion estimates and their derivatives) and non-gray matter signal (white matter, cerebrospinal fluid, and their derivatives). Framewise motion estimates were

computed and volumes containing framewise displacement > 0.3mm were censored from computations.

#### 4.2.4.1 Generating Tissue Iron Data and Defining Tissue Iron ROIs

The time-invariant aspects of the T2\*-weighted signal derived from functional MRI (fMRI) BOLD measurements (Larsen & Luna, 2015) have been shown to reflect tissue-iron properties, which have been associated with dopamine availability in the striatum and thalamus (Larsen et al., 2020; Péran et al., 2009). Details of the preprocessing procedures that were used for the T2\*weighted images have been published elsewhere (Larsen & Luna, 2015; Peterson et al., 2019; Price et al., 2021; Vo et al., 2011). Briefly, normalized T2\*-weighted signal were aggregated voxel-wise across all available fMRI volumes of resting state fMRI scans, using the median, resulting in one normalized T2\*-weighted image for each participant (nT2\*w). High motion time points were defined as volumes containing framewise displacement > 0.3mm, and were excluded from analyses (Siegel et al., 2014). nT2\*w values were extracted separately across caudate, putamen, and thalamus ROIs using the Brainnetome atlas (Fan et al., 2016).

## 4.2.4.2 Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopic Imaging (MRSI)

MRSI is a method for quantifying metabolite levels in the brain in vivo across a full slice of the brain, rather than a single voxel as is traditionally the case in magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Details of MRSI data acquisition, processing, ROI definition, and data quality control procedures that were used are described in Perica et al., 2022. Briefly, a J-refocused spectroscopic imaging sequence was used along with radiofrequency-based outer volume suppression (Hetherington et al., 2010; J. W. Pan et al., 2010). Two oblique axial slices were acquired, one intersecting with the PFC, and the other intersecting with the hippocampus and positioned using an in-house program - Quantitative Partial Acquisition Slice-Alignment - to ensure consistent slice placement across participants. ROIs for this data are defined in MNI space using a custom ROI atlas, including regions in the PFC (dorsolateral PFC, medial PFC, and ACC), hippocampus (anterior and posterior), thalamus, and striatum (caudate and putamen), selected based on their high concentrations of hormone-related receptors and their critical roles in cognitive and emotional processing. For each participant, one voxel was manually selected per ROI in each slice based on gray matter ratio in the voxel and manual inspection of spectrum quality. Quantification of neurotransmitters was then achieved by fitting MRSI data derived from each selected voxel using LCModel (Provencher, 2001). Brain neurotransmitter levels are derived as ratios of the neurotransmitter to creatine in order to control for inter-subject variability in overall neurotransmitter levels. LCModel fits were visually inspected and data containing obvious artifacts or other observable data quality issues were excluded. Data were also excluded based on several quantitative measures of MRSI data quality that are standard in the field, including the Cramer-Rao Lower Bounds (CRLB). It should be noted that associations between pubertal stage and CRLB were tested for GABA and glutamate measures in all included regions, and pubertal stage was significantly associated with the CRLB for medial PFC (mPFC) GABA ( $\beta$ =0.224,  $p_{unc} < 0.05$ ) and right caudate GABA ( $\beta = 0.234$ ,  $p_{unc} < 0.05$ ). However, neither of these measures were major contributors to the puberty-associated principal component of neurotransmitter function described later. Thus, the identified MRSI data quality associations with pubertal stage are unlikely to be driving this component's significant association with puberty. To control for the effects of white matter and other non-gray-matter present within the voxels from which values were derived, residuals were computed to partial out the effect of gray matter percentage on all

GABA and glutamate measures and these GABA and glutamate residuals were included in the PCA.

#### **4.2.5 Hormonal Measures**

Hormone levels in this study were derived from hair samples, collected at each visit year from all participants who consented to participate in hair sampling and who had hair at a minimum length of 2.5 inches to ensure an adequate amount of hair to assay all hormones of interest. These hair hormone levels represent a three-month average and have been shown to correlate strongly with circulating hormone levels measured via more standard sources such as saliva and urine samples (Short et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2019). Hair samples were obtained by parting hair at the back of the head horizontally in line with approximately the middle of the ears, and then cutting approximately 40-100 strands as close to the scalp as possible. These strands were then fastened together with a rubber band, wrapped in a piece of foil without bending, sealed, and stored in a cool environment until being shipped for assay. These samples were assayed in collaboration with Dr. Elizabeth Shirtcliff at the University of Oregon for testosterone, DHEA, and cortisol levels in all participants, and additionally for estradiol and progesterone in female participants only (for full details on assay procedure, see Wang et al., 2019). In this study, we included all assayed hormones except cortisol. For logistical purposes, hormones were assayed in three batches, so data was tested for potential batch effects. A significant effect of batch was found for estradiol only, so batch number was included as a covariate in all analyses using estradiol levels.

Following standard procedures in the field, values greater than three standard deviations away from the mean within each hormone were winsorized to three standard deviations from the mean. Additionally, data for each hormone was log-transformed to approximate normal distributions. Because the use of hormonal medications such as contraceptives can affect these measurements, all hormone analyses were repeated excluding participants who reported using hormone medications, and results were broadly consistent. While menstrual cycle is often another consideration in studies including sex steroid hormones, menstrual cycle phase was not incorporated into these analyses since the method of obtaining hormone measurements from this segment of hair produces an average spanning a three-month period, and thus, multiple menstrual cycles.

#### 4.3 Statistical Analysis

Analyses for all aims were conducted in R (R Core Team, 2020). Across all aims where relevant, false discovery rate (FDR) correction for multiple comparisons was applied to significance values. To address Aim 1, generalized additive mixed models (GAMMs) were used to examine associations of pubertal stage with performance metrics from the antisaccade and BIRD tasks (solid black arrow in Fig. 1). Using GAMMs provides a data-driven way to investigate these associations while accounting for possible nonlinearities in the developmental trajectories of cognitive and emotional control. Participant ID was included as a random effect to account for longitudinal data points and analyses included sex assigned at birth as a covariate. Follow-up analyses also included age as a covariate to provide insight into whether associations with puberty were substantial enough to be statistically separated from age. The resulting p-values were corrected for multiple comparisons using FDR correction across the five cognitive and emotional measures being tested. In addition, follow-up analyses were conducted examining associations between pubertal stage and self-reported emotion regulation ability (using total DERS score and

total DTS score) to understand whether associations with BIRD task performance were specific to emotion regulation. For task performance measures that were significantly associated with pubertal stage controlling for sex assigned at birth, post hoc analyses were conducted separately in males and females to examine associations between each pubertal hormone and the task metric. P-values from these analyses were corrected for multiple comparisons using FDR correction across the two hormones being tested in males and the four hormones being tested in females.

Aim 2 took an exploratory approach to examine three developmentally-relevant neurotransmitters – GABA, glutamate, and dopamine – as another potential mechanism by which puberty affects brain development. To address Aim 2a, we performed a PCA incorporating subcortical tissue iron data as an indirect measure of dopamine from the caudate, putamen, and thalamus, and MRSI data (GABA, glutamate) from the following prefrontal and subcortical regions: dorsolateral PFC (DLPFC), mPFC, ACC, caudate, putamen, thalamus, anterior hippocampus, and posterior hippocampus (gray boxes and arrows in Fig. 1). The PCA was performed using the MacroPCA method with the 'cellwise' package in R (Hubert et al., 2019). This PCA method is highly robust to missing values, within-subject outliers, and between-subject outliers, which is critical in this dataset for several reasons. First, due to the nature of longitudinal studies and the occurrence of the COVID-19 pandemic during data collection, as well as the inconsistency of usable data acquisition with MRSI, there were more missing values in this data compared to other datasets. Furthermore, the biological variability of neurotransmitter data means that outliers may either exist because of measurement error or because of real, important variance in individual neurotransmitter levels, but it is nearly impossible to determine which is the cause. Thus, this method allows for the inclusion of outliers while remaining robust to those outliers driving the overall output.

Since we are assessing development as a deviation from maturity, the PCA was first conducted in an adult-only sample derived from the same study, and then this PCA was used to predict principal component scores for the adolescent sample. Based on visual inspection of the scree plot, three principal components were retained. The loadings of individual measures on each of these components were examined in order to understand which aspects of combined neurotransmitter function were represented by each component. In Aim 2b, we used GAMMs to examine how pubertal stage is associated with these indices of combined neurotransmitter function (dotted black arrow in Fig. 1). Like Aim 1, all analyses included participant ID as a random effect and sex assigned at birth as a covariate, while follow-up analyses also added age as a covariate. The resulting p-values were corrected for multiple comparisons using FDR correction across the three retained principal components being tested. Further, the puberty-associated components of neurotransmitter function were then examined in relation to pubertal hormones separately in males and females, correcting p-values for multiple comparisons using FDR correction across the four hormones being tested.

Then, to address Aim 3, we planned to apply a mediation model using the 'mediation' package in R to test whether combined neurotransmitter function (as measured by neurotransmitter principal components derived in Aim 2a) mediates the relationship between pubertal stage and cognitive and emotional control (dashed black arrow in Fig. 1). Post hoc analyses were intended to apply this mediation model to pubertal hormones that were significantly associated with cognitive and/or emotional control within males and/or females separately, correcting p-values for multiple comparisons using FDR correction across the four hormones being tested in females and two hormones being tested in males. However, these analyses could not be completed due to a lack

of significant associations between the puberty-associated neurotransmitter component and the three puberty-associated behavioral measures.

# 5.0 Results

# 5.1 Aim 1

Descriptive statistics at baseline and across the full sample can be found in Tables 2 and 3. GAMMs were used to examine the main effect of pubertal stage on antisaccade correct response rate and response latency, controlling for the effect of sex assigned at birth (Table 4). Follow-up analyses added age as a covariate to these models (Table 5).

Variable	Ν	Mean	SD	Median	Min	Max
Pubertal stage at first timepoint	101	3.62	1.17	4.00	1.00	5.00
Age (years)	101	13.75	2.37	13.66	10.03	17.87
Antisaccade correct response rate (correct/total trials)	85	0.48	0.24	0.46	0.02	0.90
Antisaccade response latency (milliseconds)	85	328.81	65.06	327.19	174.00	502.80
BIRD total score (number of correct trials)	93	404.54	59.52	408.00	267.00	568.00
BIRD challenge latency (milliseconds)	93	362.39	101.95	377.75	53.62	598.63
BIRD baseline latency (milliseconds)	93	975.02	142.99	958.13	586.89	1442.31
PANAS difference scores (negative affect after - negative affect before)	93	1.34	3.27	1.00	-10.00	14.00
DERS Total Score	86	3.77	0.82	3.90	1.54	5.00
DTS Total Score	86	70.39	19.06	64.50	36.00	131.00
Principal Component #1 Score	83	-0.5	2.08	-0.61	-5.62	4.69
Principal Component #2 Score	83	0.66	2.22	0.39	-4.78	6.45
Principal Component #3 Score	83	-0.66	1.46	-0.71	-4.44	2.59

Table 2: Descriptive statistics in baseline sample for pubertal stage, age, and all outcome measures.

Table 3: Descri	ptive statistics acro	ss full longitudinal sa	mple for puber	tal stage, age, and a	Il outcome measures.
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			

Variable	n (visits)	n (narticinants)	Mean	SD	Median	Min	Max
Pubertal stage	154	101	3.75	1.08	4.00	1.00	5.00
Age (years)	154	101	14.07	2.21	14.13	10.03	17.87
Antisaccade correct	127	85	0.50	0.24	0.46	0.02	0.96
response rate							
(correct/total trials)	105	0.5		(1 (0			
Antisaccade response	127	85	319.72	61.69	315.04	174.00	502.80
DIPD total sacra	127	02	410.07	50.65	417.00	241.00	568 00
(number of correct	137	93	410.97	39.03	417.00	241.00	508.00
trials)							
BIRD challenge latency	137	93	360.38	92.33	369.62	53.62	598.63
(milliseconds)							
BIRD baseline latency	137	93	951.22	136.81	944.21	586.89	1442.31
(milliseconds)							
PANAS difference	137	93	1.17	3.11	1.00	-10.00	14.00
scores (negative affect							
after - negative affect							
DERS Total Score	126	86	60 77	18 16	67	36	131
	120	80	2.01	0.70	2.02	1.54	131 E
DIS Total Score	125	86	3.81	0.76	3.92	1.54	5
Principal Component #1	118	83	-0.38	2.05	-0.49	-5.62	4.69
Score	110	0.2	0.50	0.1.5	0.65	4 50	6.45
Principal Component #2	118	83	0.73	2.15	0.65	-4.78	6.45
Score Principal Component #2	118	83	0.61	1 /0	0.72	1 11	2 60
Score	110	05	-0.01	1.49	-0.72		2.09

We found a significant effect of pubertal stage (F=7.407, p<sub>FDR</sub><0.005) on antisaccade correct response rate, with significant change occurring across pubertal stages 3 and 4 (Figure 7). When examining the follow-up model including age as a covariate, we found a significant uncorrected effect of age that did not survive FDR correction (F=3.492, p<sub>unc</sub><0.05), while the effect of pubertal stage was no longer significant. Similarly, we found a significant effect of pubertal stage (F=10.940, p<sub>FDR</sub><0.001) on antisaccade response latency, with significant change occurring inconsistently between stages 2 and 4 (Figure 8). When examining the follow-up model including

age as a covariate, neither age nor pubertal stage were significantly associated with antisaccade response latency. Across all models, there were no significant effects of sex assigned at birth.



Figure 7: GAMM plot of positive association between mean pubertal stage and antisaccade correct response



Figure 8: GAMM plot of negative association between mean pubertal stage and antisaccade response latency.

rate.

Measure	Variable	β	F- Statistic	n (visits)	n (participants)	Uncorrected p	FDR q
Antisaccade correct	Pubertal stage		7.407	127	85	9.18x10 <sup>-4</sup>	0.00230
response rate	Sex	0.365				NS	NS
Antisaccade latency	Pubertal stage		10.940	127	85	4.23x10 <sup>-5</sup>	2.12x10 <sup>-4</sup>
	Sex	-0.220				NS	NS
BIRD total score	Pubertal stage		24.830	137	93	2.20x10 <sup>-16</sup>	1.10x10 <sup>-15</sup>
	Sex	0.581				0.00208	0.0104
BIRD challenge	Pubertal stage		0.269	137	93	NS	NS
latency	Sex	0.234				NS	NS
	Base Latency	0.618				5.87x10 <sup>-10</sup>	2.94x10 <sup>-9</sup>
PANAS difference	Pubertal stage		0.124	137	93	NS	NS
scores	Sex	0.430				NS	NS

Table 4: Statistical models examining the effects of pubertal stage (with sex assigned at birth as a covariate)

# on antisaccade and BIRD performance measures.

Measure	Variable	β	F- Statistic	n (visits)	n (participants)	Uncorrected p	FDR q
Antisaccade correct	Pubertal stage		0.011	127	85	NS	NS
response rate	Age		3.492			0.034	NS
	Sex	0.132				NS	NS
Antisaccade latency	Pubertal stage		0.773	127	85	NS	NS
	Age		2.736			NS	NS
	Sex	0.007				NS	NS
BIRD total score	Pubertal stage		3.441	137	93	0.035	NS
	Age		16.927			$4.62 \times 10^{-7}$	1.45x10 <sup>-6</sup>
	Sex	0.130				NS	NS
BIRD challenge	Pubertal stage		0.261	137	93	NS	NS
latency	Age		1.012			NS	NS
	Sex	0.297				NS	NS
	Base Latency	0.375				7.58x10 <sup>-8</sup>	3.79x10 <sup>-7</sup>
PANAS difference	Pubertal stage		0.522	137	93	NS	NS
scores	Age		0.656			NS	NS
	Sex	0.510				0.021	NS

Table 5: Follow-up statistical models examining the effects of pubertal stage (with age and sex assigned at

birth as covariates) o	1 antisaccade and BIRD	performance measures.
------------------------	------------------------	-----------------------

Because both antisaccade correct response rate and response latency were associated with pubertal stage in the main model tested, we conducted post hoc analyses examining associations between pubertal hormones and these antisaccade performance measures, in order to assess whether hormonal changes might be a mechanism underlying these relationships (descriptive statistics for hormone data are given in Tables 6 and 7). Notably, none of the four hormones measured in this study were associated with age or pubertal stage within this sample (Table 8). We used linear mixed models to test these associations separately in males and females within a subset

of participants who had both antisaccade and hormone data. Across all four hormones tested (DHEA and testosterone in males and females, estradiol and progesterone in females), there were no significant associations with antisaccade correct response rate or response latency, with or without the inclusion of pubertal stage as a covariate (Tables 9 and 10).

Table 6: Descriptive statistics across full sample for pubertal stage, age, and all hormone measures for males.

Variable	n (visits)	n (participants)	Mean	SD	Median	Min	Max
Pubertal stage	40	31	3.50	1.02	3.71	1.00	4.84
Age (years)	40	31	14.6	2.15	14.90	10.80	17.90
DHEA (pg/mg, log transformed)	40	31	1.45	0.27	1.48	0.75	2.06
Testosterone (pg/mg, log transformed)	40	31	0.56	0.30	0.48	0.13	1.20

#### Table 7: Descriptive statistics across full sample for pubertal stage, age, and all hormone measures for

#### females.

Variable	n (visits)	n (participants)	Mean	SD	Median	Min	Max
Pubertal stage	58	37	3.97	1.14	4.50	1.00	5.00
Age (years)	58	37	14.09	2.32	14.10	10.20	17.70
DHEA (pg/mg, log transformed)	58	37	1.25	0.34	1.17	0.68	2.06
Testosterone (pg/mg, log transformed)	58	37	0.27	0.22	0.32	-0.10	0.78
Estradiol (pg/g, log transformed)	58	37	1.52	0.30	1.46	1.01	2.04
Progesterone (pg/mg, log transformed)	58	37	0.46	0.38	0.39	-0.50	1.15

Measure	Sex	Variable	β	n (visits)	n (participants)	Uncorrected <b>p</b>
Pubertal stage	Male	Testosterone	0.273	39	30	NS
		DHEA	-0.058	39	30	NS
	Female	Testosterone	-0.018	39	32	NS
		DHEA	0.091	39	32	NS
		Estradiol	0.177	45	30	NS
		Progesterone	0.036	49	33	NS
Age	Male	Testosterone	0.280	39	30	NS
		DHEA	-0.092	39	30	NS
	Female	Testosterone	-0.060	39	32	NS
		DHEA	0.084	39	32	NS
		Estradiol	0.152	45	30	NS
		Progesterone	0.101	49	33	NS

Table 8: Statistical models examining associations between age/pubertal stage and all hormones in males and

## females separately.

Table 9: Post hoc statistical models examining the effects of hormones on puberty-associated antisaccade

measures in males and females separately.

Measure	Sex Assigned at Birth	Variable	β	n (visits)	n (participants)	Uncorrected P
Antisaccade	Male	Testosterone	0.143	34	28	NS
response rate		DHEA	-0.112	34	28	NS
	Female	Testosterone	-0.217	34	28	NS
		DHEA	-0.106	34	28	NS
		Estradiol	-0.174	41	27	NS
		Progesterone	-0.032	44	29	NS
Antisaccade	Male	Testosterone	-0.233	34	28	NS
interio		DHEA	0.071	34	28	NS
	Female	Testosterone	0.236	34	28	NS
		DHEA	0.225	34	28	NS
		Estradiol	0.242	41	27	NS
		Progesterone	-0.165	44	29	NS

Measure	Sex Assigned at Birth	Variable	β	n (visits)	n (participants)	Uncorrected p	FDR q
Antisaccade	Male	Testosterone	-0.025	33	27	NS	NS
response rate		Pubertal Stage	0.388			0.029	NS
		DHEA	-0.083	33	27	NS	NS
		Pubertal Stage	0.376			0.025	0.049
	Female	Testosterone	-0.227	34	28	NS	NS
		Pubertal Stage	0.277			NS	NS
	DHEA	-0.137	34	28	NS	NS	
	Pubertal Stage	0.282			NS	NS	
	Estradiol	-0.246	41	27	NS	NS	
	Pubertal Stage	0.215			NS	NS	
	Progesterone	-0.064	44	29	NS	NS	
		Pubertal Stage	0.267			NS	NS
Antisaccade	Male	Testosterone	-0.070	33	27	NS	NS
latency		Pubertal Stage	-0.360			NS	NS
		DHEA	-0.012	33	27	NS	NS
		Pubertal Stage	-0.374			0.045	NS
	Female	Testosterone	0.239	34	28	NS	NS
		Pubertal Stage	-0.591			0.001	0.003
		DHEA	0.282	34	28	NS	NS
		Pubertal Stage	-0.613			2.88x10 <sup>4</sup>	0.001
		Estradiol	0.317	41	27	NS	NS
		Pubertal Stage	-0.358			0.038	NS
		Progesterone	-0.167	44	29	NS	NS
		Pubertal Stage	-0.338			0.039	NS

 Table 10: Post hoc statistical models examining the effects of hormones on puberty-associated antisaccade

 measures (with pubertal stage as a covariate) in males and females separately.

We also used GAMMs to examine the effect of pubertal stage on BIRD score, BIRD latency, and difference in negative affect across the BIRD task based on the PANAS, with sex assigned at birth as a covariate in all models (Table 4). Follow-up analyses added age as a covariate to these models (Table 5). A significant main effect of pubertal stage on BIRD score was observed (F=24.830, p<sub>FDR</sub><0.001), with greatest change occurring in pubertal stages 1-3 (Figure 9). In addition, a significant main effect of sex assigned at birth was observed ( $\beta$ =0.581, p<sub>FDR</sub><0.05), such that males generally scored higher than females. In the follow-up model including age as a covariate, the effect of age was significant (F=16.927, pFDR<0.001) while the effect of pubertal stage was significant but did not survive correction (F=3.441, pune<0.05). To determine whether these effects were specifically tied to emotion regulation, we tested associations between BIRD score, DERS total score, and DTS total score in this sample. Neither BIRD and DTS score, nor BIRD and DERS score were significantly associated (Table 11). However, it should be noted that exploratory analyses in our full sample including adults did show significant associations between BIRD score and both the DERS and DTS scores (p<0.05), indicating that the lack of effects may be due to insufficient power in the younger cohort.

Measure	Variable	β	n (visits)	n (participants)	Uncorrected p
BIRD total score	DERS	-0.097	126	86	NS
	DERS	-0.101	126	86	NS
	Sex	0.382			NS
	DTS	0.147	125	86	NS
	DTS	0.135	125	86	NS
	Sex	0.352			NS

 Table 11: Post hoc statistical models examining associations between BIRD score and self-report measures of emotion regulation.



Figure 9: GAMM plot of positive association between mena pubertal stage and BIRD total score.

When examining BIRD latency, we added an additional covariate for baseline reaction time as previously mentioned, in order to separate known development change in processing time generally from reaction time changes specific to emotion regulation within the context of this task. These models revealed that pubertal stage was not associated with BIRD challenge latency in the main model with sex assigned at birth as a covariate (Table 4), and neither pubertal stage nor age were associated with BIRD challenge latency in the follow-up model with age as a covariate (Table 5). When examining differences in negative affect from before to near the end of the BIRD task based on PANAS score, a paired sample t-test demonstrated that on average, the BIRD task increased negative affect in this sample as expected (t=4.646, p= $7.822 \times 10^{-6}$ , d=0.394, Figure 10). However, these differences in negative affect were not associated with pubertal stage when covarying for sex assigned at birth (Table 4), or with pubertal stage nor age in the follow-up model including age as a covariate (Table 5).



Figure 10: Line plot of significant increase in self-reported negative affect scores (PANAS) from before to the end of the BIRD task.

Since only BIRD score was associated with pubertal stage, we conducted post hoc analyses examining the association between pubertal hormones and BIRD score, in order to assess whether hormonal changes might be a mechanism underlying this relationship. We used linear mixed models to test these associations separately in males and females within subsets of participants who had both BIRD data and data available for each hormone. Across all four hormones tested (DHEA and testosterone in males and females, estradiol and progesterone in females), there were no significant associations with BIRD score without the inclusion of pubertal stage as a covariate (Tables 12 and 13). However, when controlling for pubertal stage, DHEA was significantly associated with BIRD score in males, such that increasing DHEA levels were associated with decreased BIRD scores ( $\beta$ = -0.364, p<sub>FDR</sub><0.05, Figure 11). This associations were present in females when controlling for pubertal stage, and no other significant associations were present between hormones and BIRD score when including pubertal stage as a covariate.



Figure 11: Linear regression plot of negative association between DHEA level and BIRD score in males.

measures in males and females separately.								
Measure	Sex Assigned at Birth	Variable	β	n (visits)	n (participants)	Uncorrected P		
BIRD total score	Male	Testosterone	0.138	38	30	NS		
		DHEA	-0.326	38	30	NS		
	Female	Testosterone	-0.085	32	26	NS		
		DHEA	-0.030	32	26	NS		
		Estradiol	-0.117	37	26	NS		
		Progesterone	-0.034	41	29	NS		

Table 12: Post hoc statistical models examining the effects of hormones on puberty-associated BIRD

54	

Measure	Sex Assigned at Birth	Variable	β	n (visits)	n (participants)	Uncorrected P	FDR q
BIRD total	Male	Testosterone	0.011	38	30	NS	NS
score		Pubertal Stage	0.400			0.022	0.043
		DHEA	-0.364	38	30	0.018	0.036
Ī		Pubertal Stage	0.432			0.007	0.013
	Female	Testosterone	-0.105	32	26	NS	NS
		Pubertal Stage	0.433			0.006	0.024
		DHEA	-0.060	32	26	NS	NS
		Pubertal Stage	0.433			0.006	0.026
		Estradiol	-0.250	37	26	NS	NS
		Pubertal Stage	0.462			0.011	0.043
		Progesterone	-0.037	41	29	NS	NS
		Pubertal Stage	0.345			0.037	NS

 Table 13: Post hoc statistical models examining the effects of hormones on puberty-associated BIRD
 measures (with pubertal stage as a covariate) in males and females separately.

## 5.2 Aim 2

As described in the Methods section, a PCA was conducted within a sample of adults derived from the same study but excluded from the rest of this project due to a lack of pubertal measures and assumed completion of puberty (adult sample visualized in Figure 12). Due to high levels of missingness, the right posterior hippocampal GABA and glutamate measures were dropped from the PCA and are not included in the resulting principal components. Based on visual inspection of a scree plot (Figure 13), three principal components were retained in the adult PCA across neurotransmitter measures, which together accounted for 40% of the variability in these

measures (individual measure loadings for each retained component are visually represented in Figure 14). The first principal component appeared to largely capture subcortical dopamine (as represented by tissue iron), and to some extent, prefrontal glutamate levels. The loadings of the second principal component suggested that it was driven by GABA and glutamate levels in the dorsal striatum and DLPFC. Finally, the third principal component captured relative levels of posterior hippocampal GABA compared to ACC GABA and glutamate, although the influence of posterior hippocampal GABA is much stronger.



Figure 12: Histogram of adult baseline visits used in neurotransmitter PCA (N=92).



Figure 13: Screen plot of principal component eigenvalues from adult neurotransmitter PCA.

After obtaining these principal components in the adult sample, we used this PCA to predict principal component scores for these three components within the adolescent sample used throughout this project. We then used these predicted scores to test whether any of these three components of neurotransmitter levels were associated with pubertal stage. There were no significant effects of pubertal stage on the first or second principal components when controlling for sex assigned at birth (Table 14) nor when adding age as a covariate (Table 15). However, the third principal component was significantly associated with increasing pubertal stage (F=4.476, pFDR<0.05) when controlling for sex assigned at birth, with the significant period of change occurring through the second half of pubertal stage 2 and the first half of pubertal stage 3 (Figure 15). When age was added as a covariate to this model, neither age nor pubertal stage was significantly associated with the third principal component. However, it should be noted that in a model of age alone controlling for sex assigned at birth, age was not significantly associated with

this hippocampus-ACC principal component, thus pubertal stage may be a more reliable predictor of this component.



Figure 14: Bar graphs of individual measure loadings on each retained component.

(HPC=hippocampus, DLPFC=dorsolateral PFC, mPFC=medial PFC, ACC=anterior cingulate cortex)



Figure 15: GAMM plot of positive association between mean pubertal stage and the third principal component of neurotransmitter function.

 Table 14: Statistical models examining the effects of puberty (with sex assigned at birth as a covariate) on

 principal components of combined neurotransmitter function.

Measure	Variable	β	F- Statistic	n (visits)	n (participants)	Uncorrected p	FDR q
Principal Component #1	Pubertal stage		2.293	118	83	NS	NS
Component #1	Sex	-0.316				NS	NS
Principal Component #2	Pubertal stage		0.182	118	83	NS	NS
component #2	Sex	-0.103				NS	NS
Principal Component #3	Pubertal stage		4.476	118	83	0.0134	0.0402
	Sex	0.348				NS	NS
Measure	Variable	β	F- Statistic	n (visits)	n (participants)	Uncorrected p	
---------------------------	----------------	--------	-----------------	---------------	---------------------	------------------	
Principal Component #1	Pubertal stage		0.966	118	83	NS	
e empenent #1	Age		0.090			NS	
	Sex	-0.295				NS	
Principal	Pubertal stage		0.184	118	83	NS	
component #2	Age		0.0160			NS	
	Sex	-0.123				NS	
Principal Component #3	Pubertal stage		2.372	118	83	NS	
	Age		0.255			NS	
	Sex	0.382				NS	

 Table 15: Statistical models examining the effects of puberty (with age and sex assigned at birth as covariates)

 on principal components of combined neurotransmitter function.

Because the third hippocampus-ACC principal component was associated with pubertal stage, we completed post hoc analyses examining associations between the hippocampus-ACC principal component of neurotransmitter function and pubertal hormones in males and females separately to explore potential mechanisms underlying this association. Across three of the four hormones tested (DHEA and testosterone in both males and females, estradiol in females only), this principal component was not significantly associated with hormone levels (Table 16). Progesterone levels, assessed only in female participants, were significantly associated with the hippocampus-ACC neurotransmitter principal component but this effect did not survive correction across the four hormones tested ( $\beta$ =0.433, punc<0.05, Figure 15). It should be noted that post hoc power analyses using the 'SIMR' package (Green & MacLeod, 2016) found that these hormone analyses were underpowered to detect significant small (power = 38.50% [35.47,41.60]) or medium (power = 34.00% [31.06, 37.03]) effects after correction for four multiple comparisons. Importantly, when pubertal stage was added to this model, the association between the

neurotransmitter principal component and pubertal stage became nonsignificant (Table 17), suggesting that progesterone may account for a large proportion of the puberty-related change in hippocampal-ACC neurotransmitter function.





 Table 16: Post hoc statistical models examining the effects of hormones on puberty-associated third principal component of combined neurotransmitter function in males and females separately.

Measure	Sex Assigned at Birth	Variable	β	n (visits)	n (participants)	Uncorrected p	FDR q
Principal Component #3	Male	Testosterone	-0.243	36	27	NS	NS
		DHEA	-0.145	36	27	NS	NS
	Female	Testosterone	0.260	35	31	NS	NS
		DHEA	0.090	35	31	NS	NS
		Estradiol	0.513	39	29	NS	NS
		Progesterone	0.433	44	33	0.015	NS

Measure	Sex Assigned at Birth	Variable	β	n (visits)	n (participants)	Uncorrected p	FDR q
Principal Component #3	Male	Testosterone	-0.325	36	27	NS	NS
		Pubertal Stage	0.298			NS	NS
		DHEA	-0.093	36	27	NS	NS
		Pubertal Stage	0.203			NS	NS
	Female	Testosterone	0.253	35	31	NS	NS
		Pubertal Stage	0.537			0.004	0.017
		DHEA	0.053	35	31	NS	NS
		Pubertal Stage	0.536			0.006	0.023
		Estradiol	0.394	39	29	NS	NS
		Pubertal Stage	0.201			NS	NS
		Progesterone	0.041	44	33	0.0214	NS
		Pubertal Stage	0.200			NS	NS

 Table 17: Post hoc statistical models examining the effects of hormones on puberty-associated third principal

 component of combined neurotransmitter function (with pubertal stage as a covariate) in males and females

#### separately.

## 5.3 Aim 3

To integrate these findings, our final aim consisted of testing mediation models to examine whether this hippocampus-ACC principal component of neurotransmitter function mediated associations that were identified between pubertal stage and antisaccade correct response rate, antisaccade response latency, and BIRD score. However, statistical analyses revealed that this hippocampus-ACC neurotransmitter component was not significantly associated with any of these puberty-associated behavioral measures, with or without pubertal stage as a covariate (Table 18). Thus, full mediation analyses were not appropriate.

# Table 18: Statistical models examining the effect of the puberty-associated third principal component on puberty-associated antisaccade and BIRD measures (with sex as a covariate, and with sex and puberty stage

Measure	Variable	β	n (visits)	n (participants)	Uncorrected p
Antisaccade correct response	Principal Component #3	0.045	106	76	NS
	Sex	0.118			NS
Tate	Principal Component #3	-0.044	106	76	NS
	Pubertal stage	0.398			$1.07 \mathrm{x} 10^{-4}$
	Sex	0.387			NS
Antisaccade latency	Principal Component #3	-0.111	106	76	NS
	Sex	0.057			NS
	Principal Component #3	-0.025	106	76	NS
	Pubertal stage	-0.389			3.85x10 <sup>-4</sup>
	Sex	-0.216			NS
BIRD total score	Principal Component #3	0.122	106	75	NS
	Sex	0.345			NS
	Principal Component #3	0.018	106	75	NS
	Pubertal stage	0.426			2.02x10 <sup>-5</sup>
	Sex	0.648			0.003

as covariates).

#### 6.0 Discussion

In this study, we find that self-reported pubertal stage is associated with measures of inhibitory control and some, but not all, measures of emotional control, with most significant change occurring largely in early and mid-puberty. While none of these inhibitory control measures were associated with pubertal hormone levels, a broad measure of emotional control was associated with DHEA levels in male participants when controlling for pubertal stage. We also found that dopamine, glutamate, and GABA levels cluster together into three main components, encompassing 1) subcortical dopamine and prefrontal glutamate levels, 2) GABA and glutamate levels across the dorsal striatum and DLPFC, and 3) opposing variation in GABA and glutamate within the hippocampus and ACC. Of these three components of combined neurotransmitter function, increases in the hippocampal and ACC GABA/glutamate component were associated with antisaccade response rate, antisaccade latency, or BIRD total score and thus, could not be tested as a mediator of the association between puberty and these measures.

Based on our findings, it is likely that the major influences of puberty on cognitive and emotional development occur in the early and middle stages of puberty, rather than in late puberty or across the transition from puberty to adulthood. If these effects arise from hormonal interactions with the brain, this is consistent with the significant surge of estradiol and testosterone that occurs near the onset of puberty and the progesterone rise occurring in mid-puberty. Although analyses including age as a covariate are difficult to interpret due to the challenges of separating age and pubertal stage, the fact that age remains significant in this model for antisaccade correct response rate and BIRD score suggests that pubertal development may explain a smaller portion of the development-related variance in these measures. Developmental trajectories of these measures may instead be more influenced by other processes associated with chronological age such as the accumulation of experience. However, BIRD score was associated with DHEA levels in males when controlling for pubertal stage, providing some evidence for a biological mechanism of emotional development. This association may have been specific to the inclusion of pubertal stage as a covariate because this controls for other large-scale puberty-related changes, revealing an effect of DHEA which may represent a direct hormonal effect in the brain rather than a potential mechanism of pubertal influence. In contrast, neither age nor pubertal stage remained significant in the combined model for antisaccade response latency, suggesting that puberty may account for more of the development-related variance in this measure. Further, these findings support prior work from our lab showing that pubertal development may be more implicated in optimization of inhibitory control performance, represented by improvements in response latency, than in the overall development of inhibitory control ability (Ojha et al., 2022; Ordaz et al., 2018; Ravindranath et al., 2022), potentially reflecting greater influence of puberty-related biological processes such as prior hormone surges or changing distributions of hormone receptors in the brain. Critically, while these findings cannot confirm that pubertal effects on cognitive and emotional control are independent of other age-related processes, they do suggest that pubertal development and associated hormonal changes may contribute to both cognitive and emotional development, but possibly in subtle ways that are difficult to disentangle using currently available methods.

It is important to consider that pubertal hormone levels in this sample were not associated with pubertal stage or age. Thus, it is difficult to know if associations with these hormone levels are in fact related to pubertal development. However, it should be noted that the sample sizes for hormone levels were unexpectedly small due to unforeseen methodological constraints and thus, statistical power may not have been sufficient to detect small developmental effects. In addition, this sample does not comprehensively capture the transition into puberty, when surges in hormones are believed to be greatest, so it is possible that while hypothesized increases with age and pubertal stage may still be occurring, they are too subtle to reach statistical significance in this age range. When looking at a larger sample encompassing all participants through the age of 30, testosterone and progesterone were both associated with age, supporting the idea that statistical power may be a major reason for the lack of developmental effects. Further, hormone levels vary widely between individuals, and we did not have a way to normalize these levels to account for individual differences in baseline levels. Using data with several longitudinal timepoints for each participant would help to counteract this issue and may better lend itself to detecting associations with age or pubertal stage. Additionally, some recent work attempting to create a latent factor of puberty using self-report measures, salivary hormone levels, and hair hormone levels, showed that self-reported pubertal development and salivary hormone levels loaded onto a single latent factor while hair hormones did not fit well into this model (Byrne et al., 2023). This finding demonstrates that hormone levels derived from hair may not match well with pubertal development as indexed by self-report measures. One reason for this may be that diurnal variation in these hormones is significant, with hormone levels peaking in the morning and decreasing to low levels by evening, and this variation is even more pronounced and erratic during puberty. Thus, capturing hormone levels at a particular moment, possibly early in the morning when these levels are highest, may correspond better with how those hormones are affecting overall pubertal development, rather than the average hormone level derived from hair, which may obscure important variability.

The post hoc analyses examining associations between hormone levels and BIRD score found that DHEA levels in males were significantly associated with BIRD score, such that higher DHEA related to worse BIRD performance. Notably, the effect was only significant when pubertal stage was included as a covariate in the model, indicating that this association is independent of other puberty-driven changes in DHEA. This may also suggest that this association is specific to adrenally-produced DHEA, as opposed to gonadally-produced DHEA which might be more strongly linked to pubertal stage. The prior, albeit limited, literature examining the relationship between DHEA and emotion regulation has produced conflicting results. Some studies have suggested that higher DHEA is associated with better emotion regulation (Sripada, Marx, King, Rajaram, et al., 2013; Strous et al., 2003) and lower DHEA with greater negative affect (Susman et al., 1991) as well as risk for psychiatric disorders involving mood dysregulation such as Major Depressive Disorder (Berr et al., 1996; Goodyer et al., 1996). However, others have found associations between greater DHEA and higher suicide risk (Butterfield et al., 2005; Chatzittofis et al., 2013) as well as higher anxiety in males (Barendse et al., 2020). One possible reason for this inconsistency may be that the effects of DHEA follow an inverted-U pattern, such that too much or too little DHEA might be detrimental, but a medium level might be optimal for emotion regulation and mental health. Another explanation might be that these measured DHEA levels may not accurately reflect DHEA levels in the brain or do not accurately represent how DHEA is influencing the brain. DHEA is part of the synthesis pathway for both testosterone and estradiol, and is believed to be frequently used by neurons to synthesize these neurosteroids due to the abundance of DHEA throughout the body (Soma et al., 2015). Thus, measured DHEA levels may reflect levels of synthesized testosterone or estradiol or may in fact reflect brain DHEA levels, depending on the person and the method of hormone measurement. This may also relate the

specificity of this association to males, who have higher levels of DHEA than females (Arlt, 2004; Rehman & Carr, 2004), because higher DHEA levels may increase its likelihood of conversion to other neurosteroids required by the brain. Based on this, the relationship between DHEA level and brain or behavioral measures might be better elucidated in relation to other hormones, i.e., high/low DHEA in combination with high/low testosterone may indicate something about how much DHEA is synthesized into testosterone, how poorly DHEA is metabolized, or other related processes that could affect brain function. Analogously, DHEA might influence brain through interactions with neurotransmitters, like the notable variation in estradiol's effects on cognition dependent on individual differences in baseline dopamine availability. Finally, it is possible that studies have used inconsistent measures of emotion regulation that differentially relate to DHEA depending on the aspect of emotion regulation being captured. Future studies should incorporate larger sample sizes, combined measures of multiple hormones or hormones with neurotransmitters, and additional measures of emotion regulation in order to further explore this association.

When interpreting the puberty-related change in BIRD performance and association with DHEA levels found in this study, it is necessary to also consider the aspects of emotion processing and regulation that are captured by this task. This task induces distress or negative affect, specifically frustration in most cases, and requires participants to sustain optimal performance on a basic motor task while this negative emotion occurs and/or increases. Because the activity that participants are engaging in while in the negative affective state is not cognitively demanding, it is unlikely that this task captures anything related to emotion-cognition interactions. Rather, this task may emulate a realistic situation in which people must continue engaging in an activity regardless of their emotional state, which likely requires some level of emotion regulation in order to successfully continue the activity. However, maintaining optimal performance could be a result

of multiple different combinations of emotion processing and regulation characteristics, i.e. participants who perform better could just experience less negative affect or frustration related to this task, or be better at regulating increases in negative emotion, or might just be skilled enough at this simple motor task that their performance is unaffected by changes in their emotional state. In this sample, BIRD score was unrelated to scores on the DERS, DTS, or PANAS, making it difficult to evaluate which of these processes might be more implicated in the developmental changes. However, it should be noted that in the larger sample encompassing participants up to 30 years old, BIRD score was significantly related to both DERS and DTS total scores, suggesting that the lack of association is related to low power, and that the developmental change in BIRD score may in fact be related to improvements in emotion regulation and distress tolerance across pubertal development.

The puberty-associated third component of neurotransmitter function largely captured hippocampal GABA levels and to a lesser extent, GABA and glutamate levels in the ACC. Individually, these are both regions that undergo dramatic development during adolescence underlying major behavioral maturation such as the development of error monitoring, emotion regulation, working memory, and future planning (Ahmed et al., 2015; Calabro et al., 2020; Geier et al., 2009; Isbell et al., 2015; Luna et al., 2015; Murty et al., 2016; Ordaz et al., 2013; Pfeifer et al., 2011). However, when we tested these highly-loading measures individually (posterior hippocampal GABA, ACC glutamate, ACC GABA) for associations with pubertal stage, all were nonsignificant, suggesting that the developmental effect here is related to this specific combination of brain regions and neurotransmitters, rather than being driven by one specific measure or region. Notably, loadings of hippocampal GABA and ACC GABA/glutamate were in opposing directions, which may also suggest that the association with puberty is specific to the *relative* change between

hippocampal GABA and GABA/glutamate in the ACC. This is particularly relevant because changes in the balance between glutamate-driven excitation and GABA-driven inhibition within the PFC are believed to underlie adolescent critical period plasticity (Larsen et al., 2021; Larsen & Luna, 2018). Thus, combined measures of GABA and glutamate capturing this relative change (i.e., ratio, correlation, or residuals) may provide unique insights into developmental change in these neurotransmitters and their contributions to critical period plasticity (Perica et al., 2022; Steel et al., 2020). While we did not incorporate these combined measures in this study, the hippocampal-ACC GABA/glutamate component may identify another relative change in GABA and glutamate underlying brain maturation and plasticity during this period.

One of the few existing studies examining puberty-specific effects on resting state connectivity development identified the hippocampus and ACC as one of several specific connectivity pairs that were more associated with pubertal stage than age among a variety of cortical-cortical, subcortical-subcortical, and cortical-subcortical connectivity pairs (van Duijvenvoorde et al., 2019). Thus, these regions and neuronal signals between them may be more affected by puberty-related changes in the body than other brain regions. Functionally, disruptions in hippocampus-ACC connectivity have been identified in post-traumatic stress disorder (Fani et al., 2016), major depressive disorder (Krug et al., 2022), schizophrenia (Kraguljac et al., 2016), and physical disorders encompassing emotion dysregulation such as hyperthyroidism (Zhang et al., 2014) and chronic pain (Yu et al., 2021), suggesting a role for this connectivity pair in emotion processing and regulation. While this component was not found to mediate the effect of pubertal stage on BIRD score, our primary measure of emotion regulation, our mediation subsamples were small and thus these mediation analyses were likely underpowered (see Limitations section). Further, the BIRD task only encompasses one specific type of emotion regulation—distress

tolerance during a goal-directed task. Thus, it is possible that this hippocampal-ACC component may be more specifically related to other facets of emotion regulation that were not measured in this study.

The association between progesterone and this hippocampal-ACC GABA/glutamate principal component is noteworthy because of progesterone's known effects on the brain. First, animal studies have identified an important role for progesterone and its metabolites in the modulation of hippocampal GABA levels. Specifically, progesterone metabolites have been shown to act as allosteric modulators of both synaptic and extrasynaptic GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors, increasing GABA receptor sensitivity and tonic inhibition (Birzniece et al., 2006; Farrant & Nusser, 2005; Majewska et al., 1986; Pletzer et al., 2023; Shen et al., 2007). It is particularly intriguing that this effect may be reversed during puberty, such that progesterone may actually decrease GABA binding and tonic inhibition in the hippocampus during this period (Shen et al., 2007). Additionally, progesterone is a modulator of NMDA (but not AMPA) receptor expression and sensitivity in the hippocampus, striatum, and cortex, driving changes in neuronal sensitivity to glutamate (Cyr et al., 2001; El-Bakri et al., 2004). Major shifts in the balance of inhibition and excitation are believed to drive the opening and closing of critical periods in the brain (Dorrn et al., 2010; Hensch & Fagiolini, 2005; Long et al., 2005). Thus, it is possible that progesterone's actions in other areas of the brain that have not yet been studied, or through the hippocampus's interactions with the PFC, may play a role in demarcating PFC critical period plasticity during adolescence. This is further supported by research that has shown progesterone to increase myelination, another mechanism believed to drive the closing of critical periods, by inducing synthesis of myelin protein in oligodendrocytes through binding at GABAA receptors (Schumacher et al., 2012, 2014). Importantly, white matter that may connect the hippocampus and ACC, such as the cingulum bundle and superior medullary lamina, undergoes maturation and myelination across the adolescent period (Benes, 1989; Benes et al., 1994; Lebel et al., 2008; Simmonds et al., 2014). While progesterone's role in myelination has not yet been studied in adolescence, those studies that have been done have focused on fetal and postnatal development (Ghoumari et al., 2020), another period of increased progesterone synthesis and action during which progesterone is also believed to play a fundamental role in neurogenesis and neural circuit formation (González-Orozco & Camacho-Arroyo, 2019). This finding and the supporting literature provide novel evidence for progesterone as a potential mechanism by which puberty triggers the beginning and ending of adolescent critical period plasticity.

This association may also speak to a potential role for progesterone in the known development of neural synchrony across adolescence. Theta band activity, defined as neural oscillations occurring in the 5-10Hz range, plays a critical role in the organization of higher frequency activity and interactions between the hippocampus and PFC (Benchenane et al., 2011). Past work from our group has shown protracted development through adolescence of theta band activity within the ACC and anterior insula, which may underlie important behavioral maturation across adolescence such as improvements in cognitive control (Marek et al., 2018). Relatedly, a recent study found that progesterone concentrations in humans across sexes were associated with greater amplitude of frontal midline theta oscillations, which likely correspond to an area of the brain including the ACC (Riddle et al., 2020). While the current study cannot directly speak to the role of theta, these prior findings suggest theta band oscillations as another mechanism through with progesterone may influence hippocampal-ACC GABA/glutamate function. Importantly, while some of these roles that progesterone plays in the brain have been identified across sexes, substantially more research has been done in females. Further, the association between

progesterone and the hippocampal-ACC GABA/glutamate component in this study was also specific to females due to lack of data in males. Thus, it will be critical for future studies to examine whether progesterone reliably fills these roles across individuals, regardless of sex characteristics.

The other principal components of combined neurotransmitter function identified here were not related to development, but their loadings may still indicate important relationships between these neurotransmitter systems. In particular, the first principal component, capturing subcortical tissue iron and prefrontal glutamate, is somewhat consistent with one of our hypotheses predicting a component that included striatal dopamine and prefrontal glutamate, due to crucial interactions between these two systems that support executive function (Tseng & O'Donnell, 2004). While we do not have direct measures of dopamine in this sample, such as PET imaging, tissue iron has been associated with presynaptic striatal dopamine availability (Larsen et al., 2020; Péran et al., 2009). Importantly, previous work has shown that subcortical tissue iron, particularly in the striatum, increases across development (Perica et al., 2022). Since the loadings of these measures are all in the same direction for this component, it is likely that these developmental effects cancel each other out, which may explain the lack of association between this component and age or pubertal stage.

The second principal component was not one we hypothesized and seems to largely capture GABA and glutamate in the dorsal striatum and DLPFC. Connectivity between the dorsal striatum and DLPFC has been associated with executive control functions such as delay discounting and impulse control (Bos et al., 2014; Kim & Im, 2019; van den Bos et al., 2015). Notably, glutamatergic projections have been identified from the DLPFC which synapse on GABAergic neurons in the caudate (Khundakar et al., 2011), providing a potential mechanism for interactions

across these regions. Though this component was not associated with pubertal development, frontostriatal connectivity and related functions are known to change with development. Because of these known developmental changes, and the dearth of available information on GABA and glutamate across these regions, it is difficult to understand the lack of significant age- or puberty-related change in this component. However, one explanation may be that these principal components were defined in adults, and it is possible that the identified components do not all reflect the relationships between neurotransmitters and brain regions that exist in adolescence. Thus, the structure of these relationships may itself be changing from adolescence to adulthood, making it impossible to observe those developmental changes using the current method. Further, many participants in this sample had not completed puberty by age 18, and many of these brain maturational processes are known to continue past this age, so the restricted age range of this sample may have limited our ability to observe some significant developmental changes.

### **6.1 Limitations and Future Directions**

Several limitations of this study should be noted. First, our total sample size, as well as the number of participants with longitudinal timepoints, was smaller than anticipated due to unexpectedly high attrition during and following the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, due to methodological constraints, sample sizes in the hormone data were significantly smaller than anticipated relative to the study's total sample. Relatedly, across all analyses, differing subsamples of participants were available depending on which participants had complete and usable data for each measure, which was highly variable and led to smaller sample sizes for certain analyses. These unexpected limitations resulted in many analyses that were likely underpowered, including

post hoc hormonal analyses and the mediation analyses in Aim 3. They also prevented us from effectively examining interactions between the effects of sex assigned at birth and pubertal development, and effects of hormonal medications, such as birth control, on the hormone measurements. Though this study is largely exploratory due to the limited statistical power resulting from low sample size, these findings will provide important insights that can inform the design and hypotheses of future, large-scale studies examining puberty and brain development.

Based on the demographic makeup of this sample, the generalizability of these findings may be limited. Specifically, while this sample has plenty of variability in household income, and the racial makeup is similar to that of the city of Pittsburgh, about half of the sample is white, and most are upper middle class or above. This is particularly important in puberty research, since pubertal onset timing and tempo have been found to vary as a function of race, household income, and other demographic factors (Bleil et al., 2017; Deardorff et al., 2011; Kelly et al., 2017). While we confirmed that age, pubertal stage, and hormone levels were not associated with race or household income group in our sample, it is likely that these variables might have a larger influence in a sample that more comprehensively captures the onset of puberty. Thus, future studies should emphasize the construction of diverse samples in order to promote greater generalizability to the broader population. Further, the collection of detailed information regarding these variables is critical in order to extend our current understanding of how these individual differences affect the progression of puberty and its influence on the brain.

Across this study, sex assigned at birth was included as a covariate and main effects were noted, but sufficient power was not available to examine puberty-by-sex interactions. However, it is important to consider that sex is more complex than the binary variables commonly used in psychological research. The fields of biology and to some extent, psychology, have recognized for some time that biological sex characteristics and gender identity are too complex to be wellcaptured by just two categories (Ainsworth, 2015; Hyde et al., 2019). Even with this knowledge, much of psychological science has still not changed to reflect this fact. Thus, representing sex using only the binary variable derived from sex assigned at birth is likely to obscure meaningful differences in neurocognitive development that vary as a function of the sex and gender spectra. This is particularly important when studying the nuanced effects of puberty, a process that is intrinsically tied to sex characteristics and reproductive differences. Developing new strategies for measuring and conceptualizing sex as a nonbinary and/or continuous variable (Reilly, 2019; Vosberg et al., 2020) and applying those strategies to understanding the effects of pubertal development will be crucial to improving our understanding of puberty's influence on brain development.

While the BIRD task provides a somewhat realistic measure of the ability to maintain performance while regulating changes in emotion, it is difficult to pinpoint the aspect of emotion regulation being captured by this task or for some participants, whether emotion regulation is even involved, as mentioned above. In addition, the examination of developmental change in BIRD score and the BIRD challenge latency is confounded by continued improvement in response latency through this age range, a limitation which is difficult to control for due to the nature of this task. Thus, the interpretation of findings from this task as they relate to overall emotional development is ambiguous due to the nature of this task. Because this study identified some significant puberty-related associations with this task, it may be important for future studies to incorporate more targeted measures of emotion processing and regulation, as well as a wider variety of these measures, in order to better contextualize these findings. Laboratory tasks of interest might include a combination of explicit emotion regulation tasks, which attempt to induce various emotions in participants and then ask them to actively modulate those emotions, and implicit emotion regulation tasks (like the BIRD task) which induce emotion and then elicit automatic, unconscious regulation of the emotion. However, it might be even more beneficial to incorporate ecological momentary assessment methods, such as a daily task asking participants at a random time to rate their current mood/affective state, complete a short task, and then answer some questions about any conscious emotion regulation that occurred during the task. These measures might allow researchers to examine how mood states induced by real-life activities and events, and the ability to regulate these states, affects task performance and relates to self-reported regulation, and how these processes change across adolescence.

This study utilizes a novel method of studying neurotransmitters across the brain by conducting a PCA to understand how their combined function is influenced by puberty as well as how it affects behavioral development. However, interpreting the resulting component loadings posed a challenge due to the large number of heterogeneous measures, with three different neurotransmitters and eight different brain regions. Thus, while this study used the MacroPCA method due to the high volume of missing and outlying data in this sample, it may be helpful to consider developing or using a sparse PCA method that is similarly robust to missing and outlying data so that fewer neurotransmitters are included within each component to aid in interpretability. Importantly, PCA also assumes statistical independence of the components that are identified, which may be inconsistent with the known interrelatedness of these neurotransmitter systems across regions. Future studies might consider instead using another form of dimensionality reduction that does not assume orthogonality of the resulting components or factors, such as non-negative matrix factorization (Khambhati et al., 2018). In addition, future studies of puberty's impact on neurotransmitter development should consider incorporating measures of

GABA/glutamate balance, such as correlations or residuals (Perica et al., 2022; Rideaux, 2021; Steel et al., 2020). Studying associations between pubertal development and these relative measures, particularly within the PFC, may provide a more direct way to examine puberty's role in the onset of critical period plasticity during adolescence. Additionally, because changes in dopamine function have also been implicated in the opening of this critical period (Benoit-Marand & O'Donnell, 2008; Larsen & Luna, 2018; O'Donnell, 2010; Porter et al., 1999; Tseng & O'Donnell, 2004), a similar PCA incorporating tissue iron measures with these GABA/glutamate balance measures may result in combined neurotransmitter components that more directly relate to plasticity processes. Furthermore, the resulting reduction in the number of input measures would also improve the interpretability of identified components.

Relatedly, because the use of PCA is a data-driven approach to understanding which combinations of neurotransmitters to examine, it may be useful in future studies to derive these principal components of combined neurotransmitter function *prior to* choosing behavioral measures of interest. Many aspects of emotional and cognitive function develop significantly across adolescence and, as discussed in the Introduction, few have been studied with puberty specifically, so identifying behavioral measures on which to focus can be challenging. Further, because this PCA method is novel and these neurotransmitters have been minimally studied in combination with pubertal development in humans, it is difficult to hypothesize about the number of principal components that will be retained and how they will be structured. Thus, first deriving the relevant principal components, but refraining from conducting developmental analyses or behavioral associations, may allow researchers to select behavioral measures that are mechanistically relevant to the neurotransmitters and brain regions loading highly onto the derived components, while still preserving the scientific integrity of the study.

As discussed in the Introduction, the measurement of pubertal development itself is challenging since the most widely accepted measures of pubertal stage, Tanner staging and the PDS, are both subjective measures. This study took an additional step by incorporating pubertal hormone levels as a quantitative measure of pubertal development. However, other quantitative measures of puberty-related processes are becoming more common, such as bone age/growth plate fusion (Emons et al., 2011; Flor-Cisneros et al., 2006; Shim, 2015) and testicular/ovarian volume (Kabay et al., 2009; Reding et al., 2021), all of which can be obtained noninvasively via imaging technologies. Refining the study of pubertal development as it relates to brain maturation will require that future studies begin to incorporate several of these subjective and objective measures within the same studies. This will allow for several different approaches to examining puberty – 1) each metric of pubertal development can be considered to represent a different aspect of pubertal processes and compared to brain metrics accordingly, 2) reliability of these measures and effect sizes of associations between these measures and brain or behavioral metrics can be compared to understand which pubertal measure(s) might be best suited for neurocognitive research, and 3) several pubertal measures can be combined via a factor analysis or another dimensionality reduction method to derive a latent factor of pubertal development that may better represent where an individual is in their pubertal development than any individual measure alone.

The insights gained from this project emphasize the importance of recruiting a sample that is specifically tailored toward asking questions about pubertal development. Because this participant sample was recruited with the primary goal of examining age-related change, rather than pubertal development, study recruitment was designed to generate a final sample with even numbers of participants at each age, and even distributions of sex assigned at birth within each age. However, this did not produce a sample that was evenly distributed across pubertal stages or with sex assigned at birth distributed evenly across these stages. This issue was exacerbated by the fact that this sample's age range begins at 10 years old, which led to relatively few participants in Tanner Stage 1. This limited our ability to understand how the transition into puberty, a highly influential period and the time particularly implicated in triggering critical period plasticity, affects cognitive and emotional development. Thus, future puberty-focused studies should consider assessing pubertal stage as part of the screening process in order to recruit participants evenly across all pubertal stages, including prepubertal (Tanner Stage 1) children.

Additionally, when examining some of our outcome measures of interest, including the self-report emotion regulation questionnaires and the neurotransmitter principal components, it was apparent that developmental change continued past the age of 18 in some measures (based on age associations with these measures in our full adolescent and adult sample). Notably, many participants in our sample, particularly males, had not reached Tanner Stage 5 by the age of 17-18, suggesting that the collection of pubertal stage data past 18 years old would have allowed for more complete pubertal trajectories to be studied. This additional data may have helped to clarify whether some of these later-maturing characteristics are in fact associated with pubertal development. It may have also helped to confirm whether analyses showing that greatest puberty-related change occurred in early-to-mid puberty were accurate or were influenced by the lack of data at later stages in males. Therefore, it would be beneficial for future studies of puberty and brain development to collect pubertal stage data through the early-to-mid 20s in order to fully represent pubertal trajectories, including the transition out of puberty into adulthood.

#### 7.0 Conclusions and Implications

This innovative, multimodal study provides a novel, integrative perspective on the neural mechanisms underlying pubertal development and their role in driving developmental changes in cognitive and emotional function supporting the transition from adolescence to adulthood. The behavioral and neurobiological findings presented here will provide important new targets for future studies of puberty and brain development, a critical and thus far under-researched topic considering the substantial biological changes occurring during puberty and their associations with psychiatric illness. Through this study and those that follow, characterizing the relationship between puberty and the development of cognitive and emotional control will shed light on a key biological mechanism of brain development, particularly as it relates to risk for psychiatric disorders and the known increase in psychopathology risk that occurs during puberty. These findings highlight the importance of targeting pubertal mechanisms to leverage heightened neuroplasticity during adolescence for the prevention and treatment of psychiatric disorders. Furthermore, they provide a first step toward identifying much-needed neurobiological intervention targets for psychopathology arising from individual differences in pubertal development and their underlying molecular mechanisms.

81

### **Bibliography**

- Abreu, P., Hernandez, G., Calzadilla, C. H., & Alonso, R. (1988). Reproductive hormones control striatal tyrosine hydroxylase activity in the male rat. *Neuroscience Letters*, 95(1), 213–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3940(88)90659-3
- Achenbach, T. M. (1991). *Manual for the youth self-report and 1991 profile*. Department of Psychiatry, University of Vermont Burlington, VT.
- Achenbach, T. M. (2001). *Manual for the Child Behavior Checklist/ 6-18*. Research Center for Children, Youth, and Familes, University of Vermont.
- Achenbach, T. M., & Rescorla, L. A. (2003). *Manual for the ASEBA adult forms & profiles*. University of Vermont, Research Center for Children, Youth, & Families.
- Adrover, M. F., Shin, J. H., Quiroz, C., Ferré, S., Lemos, J. C., & Alvarez, V. A. (2020). Prefrontal Cortex-Driven Dopamine Signals in the Striatum Show Unique Spatial and Pharmacological Properties. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 40(39), 7510–7522. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1327-20.2020
- Ahmed, S. P., Bittencourt-Hewitt, A., & Sebastian, C. L. (2015). Neurocognitive bases of emotion regulation development in adolescence. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 15, 11– 25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2015.07.006
- Ainsworth, C. (2015). Sex redefined. *Nature News*, 518(7539), 288. https://doi.org/10.1038/518288a
- Aldred, S., & Waring, R. H. (1999). Localisation of dehydroepiandrosterone sulphotransferase in adult rat brain. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 48(3), 291–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0361-9230(98)00172-5
- Alloy, L. B., Hamilton, J. L., Hamlat, E. J., & Abramson, L. Y. (2016). Pubertal Development, Emotion Regulatory Styles, and the Emergence of Sex Differences in Internalizing Disorders and Symptoms in Adolescence. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 4(5), 867–881. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167702616643008
- Amstadter, A. B., Daughters, S. B., MacPherson, L., Reynolds, E. K., Danielson, C. K., Wang, F., Potenza, M. N., Gelernter, J., & Lejuez, C. W. (2012). Genetic associations with performance on a behavioral measure of distress intolerance. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 46(1), 87–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2011.09.017
- Angold, A., Costello, E. J., & Worthman, C. M. (1998). Puberty and depression: The roles of age, pubertal status, and pubertal timing. *Psychological Medicine Asarnow, J.R.*

- Apostolakis, E. M., Garai, J., Fox, C., Smith, C. L., Watson, S. J., Clark, J. H., & O'Malley, B. W. (1996). Dopaminergic Regulation of Progesterone Receptors: Brain D5 Dopamine Receptors Mediate Induction of Lordosis by D1-Like Agonists in Rats. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 16(16), 4823–4834. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.16-16-04823.1996
- Arlt, W. (2004). Dehydroepiandrosterone and ageing. Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 18(3), 363–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beem.2004.02.006
- Asbury, E. T., Fritts, M. E., Horton, J. E., & Isaac, W. L. (1998). Progesterone facilitates the acquisition of avoidance learning and protects against subcortical neuronal death following prefrontal cortex ablation in the rat. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 97(1), 99–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-4328(98)00031-X
- Avants, B. B., Tustison, N. J., Song, G., Cook, P. A., Klein, A., & Gee, J. C. (2011). A reproducible evaluation of ANTs similarity metric performance in brain image registration. *NeuroImage*, 54(3), 2033–2044. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.09.025
- Baca-Garcia, E., Diaz-Sastre, C., Ceverino, A., Perez-Rodriguez, M. M., Navarro-Jimenez, R., Lopez-Castroman, J., Saiz-Ruiz, J., Leon, J. de, & Oquendo, M. A. (2010). Suicide attempts among women during low estradiol/low progesterone states. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 44(4), 209–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2009.08.004
- Barendse, M. E. A., Byrne, M. L., Flournoy, J. C., McNeilly, E. A., Guazzelli Williamson, V., Barrett, A.-M. Y., Chavez, S. J., Shirtcliff, E. A., Allen, N. B., & Pfeifer, J. H. (2022). Multimethod assessment of pubertal timing and associations with internalizing psychopathology in early adolescent girls. *Journal of Psychopathology and Clinical Science*, 131(1), 14–25. https://doi.org/10.1037/abn0000721
- Barendse, M. E. A., Simmons, J. G., Patton, G., Mundy, L., Byrne, M. L., Seal, M. L., Allen, N. B., & Whittle, S. (2020). Adrenarcheal Timing Longitudinally Predicts Anxiety Symptoms via Amygdala Connectivity During Emotion Processing. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 59(6), 739-748.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2019.04.018
- Baulieu, E. E. (1998). NEUROSTEROIDS: A NOVEL FUNCTION OF THE BRAIN. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 23(8), 963–987. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4530(98)00071-7
- Bazzett, T. J., & Becker, J. B. (1994). Sex differences in the rapid and acute effects of estrogen on striatal D2 dopamine receptor binding. *Brain Research*, 637, 163–172.
- Benchenane, K., Tiesinga, P. H., & Battaglia, F. P. (2011). Oscillations in the prefrontal cortex: A gateway to memory and attention. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 21(3), 475–485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2011.01.004

- Benes, F. M. (1989). Myelination of Cortical-hippocampal Relays During Late Adolescence. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 15(4), 585–593. https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/15.4.585
- Benes, F. M., Turtle, M., Khan, Y., & Farol, P. (1994). Myelination of a key relay zone in the hippocampal formation occurs in the human brain during childhood, adolescence, and adulthood. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 51(6), 477–484.
- Benoit-Marand, M., & O'Donnell, P. (2008). D2 dopamine modulation of corticoaccumbens synaptic responses changes during adolescence. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 27(6), 1364–1372. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06107.x
- Bernardi, M., Vergoni, A. V., Sandrini, M., Tagliavini, S., & Bertolini, A. (1989). Influence of ovariectomy, estradiol and progesterone on the behavior of mice in an experimental model of depression. *Physiology & Behavior*, 45(5), 1067–1068. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(89)90238-2
- Berr, C., Lafont, S., Debuire, B., Dartigues, J.-F., & Baulieu, E.-E. (1996). Relationships of dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate in the elderly with functional, psychological, and mental status, and short-term mortality: A French community-based study. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 93(23), 13410–13415. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.93.23.13410
- Beyenburg, S., Watzka, M., Clusmann, H., Blümcke, I., Bidlingmaier, F., Elger, C. E., & Stoffel-Wagner, B. (2000). Androgen receptor mRNA expression in the human hippocampus. *Neuroscience Letters*, 294(1), 25–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(00)01542-1
- Bhatt, S. D., & Dluzen, D. E. (2005). Dopamine transporter function differences between male and female CD-1 mice. *Brain Research*, 1035(2), 188–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2004.12.013
- Bimonte, H. A., & Denenberg, V. H. (1999). Estradiol facilitates performance as working memory load increases. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 24(2), 161–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4530(98)00068-7
- Birzniece, V., Bäckström, T., Johansson, I.-M., Lindblad, C., Lundgren, P., Löfgren, M., Olsson, T., Ragagnin, G., Taube, M., Turkmen, S., Wahlström, G., Wang, M.-D., Wihlbäck, A.-C., & Zhu, D. (2006). Neuroactive steroid effects on cognitive functions with a focus on the serotonin and GABA systems. *Brain Research Reviews*, 51(2), 212–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2005.11.001
- Bixo, M., Ba'ckstro'm, T., Winblad, B., & Andersson, A. (1995). Estradiol and testosterone in specific regions of the human female brain in different endocrine states. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 55(3), 297–303. https://doi.org/10.1016/0960-0760(95)00179-4
- Bleil, M. E., Booth-LaForce, C., & Benner, A. D. (2017). Race Disparities in Pubertal Timing: Implications for Cardiovascular Disease Risk Among African American Women.

*Population Research and Policy Review*, *36*(5), 717–738. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11113-017-9441-5

- Blurton-Jones, M., & Tuszynski, M. H. (2002). Estrogen receptor-beta colocalizes extensively with parvalbumin-labeled inhibitory neurons in the cortex, amygdala, basal forebrain, and hippocampal formation of intact and ovariectomized adult rats. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 452(3), 276–287. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.10393
- Bond, L., Clements, J., Bertalli, N., Evans-Whipp, T., McMorris, B. J., Patton, G. C., Toumbourou, J. W., & Catalano, R. F. (2006). A comparison of self-reported puberty using the Pubertal Development Scale and the Sexual Maturation Scale in a school-based epidemiologic survey. *Journal of Adolescence*, 29(5), 709–720.
- Bos, W. van den, Rodriguez, C. A., Schweitzer, J. B., & McClure, S. M. (2014). Connectivity Strength of Dissociable Striatal Tracts Predict Individual Differences in Temporal Discounting. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 34(31), 10298–10310. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4105-13.2014
- Bouarab, C., Thompson, B., & Polter, A. M. (2019). VTA GABA Neurons at the Interface of Stress and Reward. *Frontiers in Neural Circuits*, 13. https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fncir.2019.00078
- Brambilla, F., Mellado, C., Alciati, A., Pisu, M. G., Purdy, R. H., Zanone, S., Perini, G., Serra, M., & Biggio, G. (2005). Plasma concentrations of anxiolytic neuroactive steroids in men with panic disorder. *Psychiatry Research*, 135(3), 185–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2004.11.009
- Butterfield, M. I., Stechuchak, K. M., Connor, K. M., Davidson, J. R. T., Wang, C., MacKuen, C. L., Pearlstein, A. M., & Marx, C. E. (2005). Neuroactive Steroids and Suicidality in Posttraumatic Stress Disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 162(2), 380–382. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.162.2.380
- Byrne, M. L., Vijayakumar, N., Chavez, S. J., Flournoy, J. C., Cheng, T. W., Mills, K. L., Barendse, M. E. A., Mobasser, A., Flannery, J. E., Nelson, B. W., Wang, W., Shirtcliff, E. A., Allen, N. B., & Pfeifer, J. H. (2023). Associations between multi-method latent factors of puberty and brain structure in adolescent girls. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 60, 101228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2023.101228
- Caballero, A., Granberg, R., & Tseng, K. Y. (2016). Mechanisms contributing to prefrontal cortex maturation during adolescence. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 70, 4–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.05.013
- Calabro, F. J., Murty, V. P., Jalbrzikowski, M., Tervo-Clemmens, B., & Luna, B. (2020). Development of Hippocampal-Prefrontal Cortex Interactions through Adolescence. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y.: 1991)*, 30(3), 1548–1558. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhz186

- Campbell, B. C., Dreber, A., Apicella, C. L., Eisenberg, D. T. A., Gray, P. B., Little, A. C., Garcia, J. R., Zamore, R. S., & Lum, J. K. (2010). Testosterone exposure, dopaminergic reward, and sensation-seeking in young men. *Physiology & Behavior*, 99(4), 451–456. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2009.12.011
- Canonaco, M., O'Connor, L. H., Pfaff, D. W., & McEwen, B. S. (1989). Longer term progesterone treatment induces changes of GABAA receptor levels in forebrain sites in the female hamster: Quantitative autoradiography study. *Experimental Brain Research*, 77(2), 407– 411. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00274998
- Castellanos-Ryan, N., Struve, M., Whelan, R., Banaschewski, T., Barker, G. J., Bokde, A. L. W., Bromberg, U., Büchel, C., Flor, H., Fauth-Bühler, M., Frouin, V., Gallinat, J., Gowland, P., Heinz, A., Lawrence, C., Martinot, J.-L., Nees, F., Paus, T., Pausova, Z., ... Conrod, P. J. (2014). Neural and Cognitive Correlates of the Common and Specific Variance Across Externalizing Problems in Young Adolescence. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *171*(12), 1310–1319. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2014.13111499
- Chaku, N., & Hoyt, L. T. (2019). Developmental Trajectories of Executive Functioning and Puberty in Boys and Girls. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 48(7), 1365–1378. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-019-01021-2
- Chambers, R. A., Taylor, J. R., & Potenza, M. N. (2003). Developmental neurocircuitry of motivation in adolescence: A critical period of addiction vulnerability. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 160(6), 1041–1052. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.160.6.1041
- Charalampopoulos, I., Dermitzaki, E., Vardouli, L., Tsatsanis, C., Stournaras, C., Margioris, A. N., & Gravanis, A. (2005). Dehydroepiandrosterone Sulfate and Allopregnanolone Directly Stimulate Catecholamine Production via Induction of Tyrosine Hydroxylase and Secretion by Affecting Actin Polymerization. *Endocrinology*, 146(8), 3309–3318. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2005-0263
- Chatzittofis, A., Nordström, P., Hellström, C., Arver, S., Åsberg, M., & Jokinen, J. (2013). CSF 5-HIAA, cortisol and DHEAS levels in suicide attempters. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 23(10), 1280–1287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2013.02.002
- Chung, Y. S., Poppe, A., Novotny, S., Epperson, C. N., Kober, H., Granger, D. A., Blumberg, H. P., Ochsner, K., Gross, J. J., Pearlson, G., & Stevens, M. C. (2019). A preliminary study of association between adolescent estradiol level and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex activity during emotion regulation. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 109, 104398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.104398
- Clark, D. B., Parker, A. M., & Lynch, K. G. (1999). Psychopathology and substance-related problems during early adolescence: A survival analysis. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 28(3), 333–341.

- Colzato, L. S., & Hommel, B. (2014). Effects of estrogen on higher-order cognitive functions in unstressed human females may depend on individual variation in dopamine baseline levels. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2014.00065
- Constantinidis, C., & Luna, B. (2019). Neural Substrates of Inhibitory Control Maturation in Adolescence. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 42(9), 604–616. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2019.07.004
- Cover, K. K., Maeng, L. Y., Lebrón-Milad, K., & Milad, M. R. (2014). Mechanisms of estradiol in fear circuitry: Implications for sex differences in psychopathology. *Translational Psychiatry*, 4(8), e422. https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2014.67
- Crone, E. A., & Dahl, R. E. (2012). Understanding adolescence as a period of social-affective engagement and goal flexibility. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *13*(9), 636–650. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3313
- Cutler, G. B., & Loriaux, D. L. (1980). Andrenarche and its relationship to the onset of puberty. *Federation Proceedings*, *39*(7), 2384–2390.
- Cyr, M., Ghribi, O., Thibault, C., Morissette, M., Landry, M., & Di Paolo, T. (2001). Ovarian steroids and selective estrogen receptor modulators activity on rat brain NMDA and AMPA receptors. *Brain Research Reviews*, 37(1), 153–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0173(01)00115-1
- Deardorff, J., Ekwaru, J. P., Kushi, L. H., Ellis, B. J., Greenspan, L. C., Mirabedi, A., Landaverde, E. G., & Hiatt, R. A. (2011). Father Absence, Body Mass Index, and Pubertal Timing in Girls: Differential Effects by Family Income and Ethnicity. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 48(5), 441–447. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2010.07.032
- Di Paolo, T., Rouillard, C., & Bédard, P. (1985). 17β-estradiol at a physiological dose acutely increases dopamine turnover in rat brain. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, *117*(2), 197–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-2999(85)90604-1
- Disshon, K. A., Boja, J. W., & Dluzen, D. E. (1998). Inhibition of striatal dopamine transporter activity by 17β-estradiol. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 345(2), 207–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-2999(98)00008-9
- Dong, L.-Y., Cheng, Z.-X., Fu, Y.-M., Wang, Z.-M., Zhu, Y.-H., Sun, J.-L., Dong, Y., & Zheng, P. (2007). Neurosteroid dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate enhances spontaneous glutamate release in rat prelimbic cortex through activation of dopamine D1 and sigma-1 receptor. *Neuropharmacology*, 52(3), 966–974. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2006.10.015
- Dorrn, A. L., Yuan, K., Barker, A. J., Schreiner, C. E., & Froemke, R. C. (2010). Developmental sensory experience balances cortical excitation and inhibition. *Nature*, 465(7300), 932– 936. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09119

- Dubrovsky, B. O. (2005). Steroids, neuroactive steroids and neurosteroids in psychopathology. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 29(2), 169–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2004.11.001
- El-Bakri, N. K., Islam, A., Zhu, S., Elhassan, A., Mohammed, A., Winblad, B., & Adem, A. (2004). Effects of estrogen and progesterone treatment on rat hippocampal NMDA receptors: Relationship to Morris water maze performance. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*, 8(4), 537–544. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2004.tb00478.x
- Ellis, B. J., Shirtcliff, E. A., Boyce, W. T., Deardorff, J., & Essex, M. J. (2011). Quality of early family relationships and the timing and tempo of puberty: Effects depend on biological sensitivity to context. *Development and Psychopathology*, 23(1), 85–99. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579410000660
- Emons, J., Chagin, A. S., Sävendahl, L., Karperien, M., & Wit, J. M. (2011). Mechanisms of Growth Plate Maturation and Epiphyseal Fusion. *Hormone Research in Paediatrics*, 75(6), 383–391. https://doi.org/10.1159/000327788
- Fan, L., Li, H., Zhuo, J., Zhang, Y., Wang, J., Chen, L., Yang, Z., Chu, C., Xie, S., Laird, A. R., Fox, P. T., Eickhoff, S. B., Yu, C., & Jiang, T. (2016). The Human Brainnetome Atlas: A New Brain Atlas Based on Connectional Architecture. *Cerebral Cortex*, 26(8), 3508–3526. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhw157
- Fani, N., King, T. Z., Shin, J., Srivastava, A., Brewster, R. C., Jovanovic, T., Bradley, B., & Ressler, K. J. (2016). Structural and Functional Connectivity in Posttraumatic Stress Disorder: Associations with Fkbp5. *Depression and Anxiety*, 33(4), 300–307. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22483
- Farrant, M., & Nusser, Z. (2005). Variations on an inhibitory theme: Phasic and tonic activation of GABAA receptors. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 6(3), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1625
- Feldman, D. E., & Knudsen, E. I. (1998). Experience-Dependent Plasticity and the Maturation of Glutamatergic Synapses. Neuron, 20(6), 1067–1071. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80488-2
- Ferenczi, E. A., Zalocusky, K. A., Liston, C., Grosenick, L., Warden, M. R., Amatya, D., Katovich, K., Mehta, H., Patenaude, B., Ramakrishnan, C., Kalanithi, P., Etkin, A., Knutson, B., Glover, G. H., & Deisseroth, K. (2016). Prefrontal cortical regulation of brainwide circuit dynamics and reward-related behavior. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 351(6268), aac9698. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aac9698
- Ferri, J., Bress, J. N., Eaton, N. R., & Proudfit, G. H. (2014). The Impact of Puberty and Social Anxiety on Amygdala Activation to Faces in Adolescence. *Developmental Neuroscience*, 36(3–4), 239–249. https://doi.org/10.1159/000363736

- Flor-Cisneros, A., Roemmich, J. N., Rogol, A. D., & Baron, J. (2006). Bone age and onset of puberty in normal boys. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 254–255, 202–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2006.04.008
- Floresco, S. B., & Magyar, O. (2006). Mesocortical dopamine modulation of executive functions: Beyond working memory. *Psychopharmacology*, 188(4), 567–585. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-006-0404-5
- Flores-Ramos, M., Alcauter, S., López-Titla, M., Bernal-Santamaría, N., Calva-Coraza, E., & Edden, R. A. E. (2019). Testosterone is related to GABA+ levels in the posterior-cingulate in unmedicated depressed women during reproductive life. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 242, 143–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2018.08.033
- Flügge, G., Wuttke, W., & Fuchs, E. (1986). Postnatal development of transmitter systems: Sexual differentiation of the gabaergic system and effects of muscimol. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, 4(4), 319–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/0736-5748(86)90049-3
- Forbes, E. E., Phillips, M. L., Ryan, N. D., & Dahl, R. E. (2011). Neural Systems of Threat Processing in Adolescents: Role of Pubertal Maturation and Relation to Measures of Negative Affect. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 36(4), 429–452. https://doi.org/10.1080/87565641.2010.550178
- Forbes, E. E., Ryan, N. D., Phillips, M. L., Manuck, S. B., Worthman, C. M., Moyles, D. L., Tarr, J. A., Sciarrillo, S. R., & Dahl, R. E. (2010). Healthy Adolescents' Neural Response to Reward: Associations with Puberty, Positive Affect, and Depressive Symptoms. *Journal* of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 49(2), 162-172e5.
- Forbes, E. E., Williamson, D. E., Ryan, N. D., & Dahl, R. E. (2004). Positive and Negative Affect in Depression: Influence of Sex and Puberty. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1021(1), 341–347. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1308.042
- Gazzaley, A. H., Weiland, N. G., McEwen, B. S., & Morrison, J. H. (1996). Differential Regulation of NMDAR1 mRNA and Protein by Estradiol in the Rat Hippocampus. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 16(21), 6830–6838. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.16-21-06830.1996
- Ge, X., Brody, G. H., Conger, R. D., & Simons, R. L. (2006). Pubertal Maturation and African American Children's Internalizing and Externalizing Symptoms. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 35(4), 528–537. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-006-9046-5
- Ge, X., Conger, R. D., & Elder, G. H. (1996). Coming of Age Too Early: Pubertal Influences on Girls' Vulnerability to Psychological Distress. *Child Development*, 67(6), 3386–3400. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1996.tb01919.x
- Ge, X., Kim, I. J., Brody, G. H., Conger, R. D., Simons, R. L., Gibbons, F. X., & Cutrona, C. E. (2003). It's about timing and change: Pubertal transition effects on symptoms of major

depression among African American youths. *Developmental Psychology*, *39*(3), 430–439. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.39.3.430

- Ge, X., & Natsuaki, M. N. (2009). In Search of Explanations for Early Pubertal Timing Effects on Developmental Psychopathology. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 18(6), 327–331. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8721.2009.01661.x
- Geier, C. F., Garver, K., Terwilliger, R., & Luna, B. (2009). Development of working memory maintenance. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *101*(1), 84–99. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.90562.2008
- Gerra, G., Avanzini, P., Zaimovic, A., Sartori, R., Bocchi, C., Timpano, M., Zambelli, U., Delsignore, R., Gardini, F., Talarico, E., & Brambilla, F. (1999). Neurotransmitters, Neuroendocrine Correlates of Sensation-Seeking Temperament in Normal Humans. *Neuropsychobiology*, 39(4), 207–213. https://doi.org/10.1159/000026586
- Ghoumari, A. M., Abi Ghanem, C., Asbelaoui, N., Schumacher, M., & Hussain, R. (2020). Roles of Progesterone, Testosterone and Their Nuclear Receptors in Central Nervous System Myelination and Remyelination. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(9), Article 9. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21093163
- Gleich, T., Deserno, L., Lorenz, R. C., Boehme, R., Pankow, A., Buchert, R., Kühn, S., Heinz, A., Schlagenhauf, F., & Gallinat, J. (2015). Prefrontal and Striatal Glutamate Differently Relate to Striatal Dopamine: Potential Regulatory Mechanisms of Striatal Presynaptic Dopamine Function? *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(26), 9615–9621. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0329-15.2015
- Gleich, T., Lorenz, R. C., Pöhland, L., Raufelder, D., Deserno, L., Beck, A., Heinz, A., Kühn, S., & Gallinat, J. (2015). Frontal glutamate and reward processing in adolescence and adulthood. *Brain Structure and Function*, 220(6), 3087–3099. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-014-0844-3
- Glickstein, S. B., DeSteno, D. A., Hof, P. R., & Schmauss, C. (2005). Mice Lacking Dopamine D2 and D3 Receptors Exhibit Differential Activation of Prefrontal Cortical Neurons during Tasks Requiring Attention. *Cerebral Cortex*, 15(7), 1016–1024. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhh202
- Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (1996). Regional and cellular fractionation of working memory. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 93(24), 13473–13480.
- Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (1998). The cortical dopamine system: Role in memory and cognition. *Adv.Pharmacol.*, 42(1054-3589 (Linking)), 707–711.
- González, M., Cabrera-Socorro, A., Pérez-García, C. G., Fraser, J. D., López, F. J., Alonso, R., & Meyer, G. (2007). Distribution patterns of estrogen receptor α and β in the human cortex and hippocampus during development and adulthood. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 503(6), 790–802. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.21419

- González-Orozco, J. C., & Camacho-Arroyo, I. (2019). Progesterone Actions During Central Nervous System Development. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 13. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnins.2019.00503
- Goodyer, I. M., Herbert, J., Altham, P. M. E., Pearson, J., Secher, S. M., & Shiers, H. M. (1996). Adrenal secretion during major depression in 8- to 16-year-olds, I. Altered diurnal rhythms in salivary cortisol and dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) at presentation. *Psychological Medicine*, 26(2), 245–256. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291700034644
- Gorgolewski, K., Burns, C. D., Madison, C., Clark, D., Halchenko, Y. O., Waskom, M. L., & Ghosh, S. S. (2011). Nipype: A Flexible, Lightweight and Extensible Neuroimaging Data Processing Framework in Python. *Frontiers in Neuroinformatics*, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fninf.2011.00013
- Graham, B. M., Ash, C., & Den, M. L. (2017). High endogenous estradiol is associated with enhanced cognitive emotion regulation of physiological conditioned fear responses in women. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 80, 7–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2017.02.023
- Graham, B. M., Denson, T. F., Barnett, J., Calderwood, C., & Grisham, J. R. (2018). Sex Hormones Are Associated With Rumination and Interact With Emotion Regulation Strategy Choice to Predict Negative Affect in Women Following a Sad Mood Induction. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9. https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00937
- Gratz, K. L., & Roemer, L. (2004). Multidimensional Assessment of Emotion Regulation and Dysregulation: Development, Factor Structure, and Initial Validation of the Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 26(1), 41–54. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JOBA.0000007455.08539.94
- Green, P., & MacLeod, C. J. (2016). SIMR: An R package for power analysis of generalized linear mixed models by simulation. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 7(4), 493–498. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12504
- Guyer, A. E., Silk, J. S., & Nelson, E. E. (2016). The neurobiology of the emotional adolescent: From the inside out. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 70, 74–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.07.037
- Hädel, S., Wirth, C., Rapp, M., Gallinat, J., & Schubert, F. (2013). Effects of age and sex on the concentrations of glutamate and glutamine in the human brain. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, 38(6), 1480–1487. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmri.24123
- Hallquist, M. N., Hwang, K., & Luna, B. (2013). The nuisance of nuisance regression: Spectral misspecification in a common approach to resting-state fMRI preprocessing reintroduces noise and obscures functional connectivity. *NeuroImage*, 82, 208–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.05.116

- Hampson, E., & Morley, E. E. (2013). Estradiol concentrations and working memory performance in women of reproductive age. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 38(12), 2897–2904. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2013.07.020
- Hensch, T. K., & Fagiolini, M. (2005). Excitatory-inhibitory balance and critical period plasticity in developing visual cortex. *Progress in Brain Research*, 147, 115–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(04)47009-5
- Hermans, E. J., Putman, P., Baas, J. M., Gecks, N. M., Kenemans, J. L., & van Honk, J. (2007).
   Exogenous testosterone attenuates the integrated central stress response in healthy young women. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 32(8), 1052–1061.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2007.08.006
- Hermans, E. J., Putman, P., Baas, J. M., Koppeschaar, H. P., & van Honk, J. (2006). A Single Administration of Testosterone Reduces Fear-Potentiated Startle in Humans. *Biological Psychiatry*, 59(9), 872–874. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.11.015
- Herting, M. M., Gautam, P., Spielberg, J. M., Dahl, R. E., & Sowell, E. R. (2015). A Longitudinal Study: Changes in Cortical Thickness and Surface Area during Pubertal Maturation. *PLoS ONE*, 10(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0119774
- Herting, M. M., Kim, R., Uban, K. A., Kan, E., Binley, A., & Sowell, E. R. (2017). Longitudinal changes in pubertal maturation and white matter microstructure. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 81, 70–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2017.03.017
- Hetherington, H. P., Avdievich, N. I., Kuznetsov, A. M., & Pan, J. W. (2010). RF shimming for spectroscopic localization in the human brain at 7 T. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*, 63(1), 9–19. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.22182
- Hidalgo-Lopez, E., & Pletzer, B. (2017). Interactive Effects of Dopamine Baseline Levels and Cycle Phase on Executive Functions: The Role of Progesterone. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2017.00403
- Howes, O. D., & Shatalina, E. (2022). Integrating the Neurodevelopmental and Dopamine Hypotheses of Schizophrenia and the Role of Cortical Excitation-Inhibition Balance. *Biological Psychiatry*, 92(6), 501–513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2022.06.017
- Hsiao, M.-C., Lin, K.-J., Liu, C.-Y., & Beck Schatz, D. (2013). The interaction between dopamine transporter function, gender differences, and possible laterality in depression. *Psychiatry Research:* Neuroimaging, 211(1), 72–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pscychresns.2012.06.004
- Hu, M., Watson, C. J., Kennedy, R. T., & Becker, J. B. (2006). Estradiol attenuates the K+-induced increase in extracellular GABA in rat striatum. *Synapse*, 59(2), 122–124. https://doi.org/10.1002/syn.20221

- Hubert, M., Rousseeuw, P. J., & Van den Bossche, W. (2019). MacroPCA: An All-in-One PCA Method Allowing for Missing Values as Well as Cellwise and Rowwise Outliers. *Technometrics*, 61(4), 459–473. https://doi.org/10.1080/00401706.2018.1562989
- Hwang, K., Velanova, K., & Luna, B. (2010). Strengthening of top-down frontal cognitive control networks underlying the development of Inhibitory control: A functional magnetic resonance imaging effective connectivity study. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(46), 15535–15545. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2825-10.2010
- Hyde, J. S., Bigler, R. S., Joel, D., Tate, C. C., & van Anders, S. M. (2019). The future of sex and gender in psychology: Five challenges to the gender binary. *American Psychologist*, 74(2), 171–193. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000307
- Intlekofer, K. A., & Petersen, S. L. (2011). Distribution of mRNAs encoding classical progestin receptor, progesterone membrane components 1 and 2, serpine mRNA binding protein 1, and progestin and ADIPOQ receptor family members 7 and 8 in rat forebrain. *Neuroscience*, 172, 55–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.10.051
- Isbell, E., Fukuda, K., Neville, H. J., & Vogel, E. K. (2015). Visual working memory continues to develop through adolescence. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6. https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00696
- Jacobs, E., & D'Esposito, M. (2011). Estrogen Shapes Dopamine-Dependent Cognitive Processes: Implications for Women's Health. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(14), 5286–5293. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6394-10.2011
- Jenkinson, M., Beckmann, C. F., Behrens, T. E. J., Woolrich, M. W., & Smith, S. M. (2012). FSL. *NeuroImage*, 62(2), 782–790. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.09.015
- Jin, S. (2019). Anxiolytic effects of exogenous intranasal testosterone in humans [Thesis]. https://doi.org/10.26153/tsw/3361
- Jocham, G., Hunt, L. T., Near, J., & Behrens, T. E. J. (2012). A mechanism for value-guided choice based on the excitation-inhibition balance in prefrontal cortex. *Nature Neuroscience*, 15(7), Article 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3140
- Joseph, J. E., Swearingen, J. E., Corbly, C. R., Curry, T. E., & Kelly, T. H. (2012). Influence of estradiol on functional brain organization for working memory. *NeuroImage*, 59(3), 2923– 2931. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.09.067
- Kabay, S., Yucel, M., Ozden, H., Yaylak, F., Ozbek, O., & Gumusalan, Y. (2009). Magnetic Resonance Imaging Is a Complementary Method to Stereological Measurement of Testicular Volume. Urology, 73(5), 1131–1135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.urology.2008.02.058
- Kaltiala-Heino, R., Marttunen, M., Rantanen, P., & Rimpelä, M. (2003). Early puberty is associated with mental health problems in middle adolescence. *Social Science & Medicine*, 57(6), 1055–1064. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(02)00480-X

- Kaltiala-Heino, R., Rimpel, M., Rissanen, A., & Rantanen, P. (2001). Early puberty and early sexual activity are associated with bulimic-type eating pathology in middle adolescence. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 28(4), 346–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1054-139X(01)00195-1
- Kann, L. (2016). Youth risk behavior surveillance—United States, 2015. MMWR: Surveillance Summaries, 65(6), 1–174. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.ss6506a1
- Karch, D. L., Logan, J., & Patel, N. (2011). Surveillance for violent deaths—National Violent Death Reporting System, 16 states, 2008. *MMWR Surveill Summ.*, 60(10), 1–49.
- Kelley, A. E., & Berridge, K. C. (2002). The Neuroscience of Natural Rewards: Relevance to Addictive Drugs. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(9), 3306–3311. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-09-03306.2002
- Kelly, Y., Zilanawala, A., Sacker, A., Hiatt, R., & Viner, R. (2017). Early puberty in 11-year-old girls: Millennium Cohort Study findings. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, 102(3), 232– 237. https://doi.org/10.1136/archdischild-2016-310475
- Kessler, R. C., & Walters, E. E. (1998). Epidemiology of DSM-III-R major depression and minor depression among adolescents and young adults in the national comorbidity survey. *Depression and Anxiety*, 7(1), 3–14. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1520-6394(1998)7:1<3::AID-DA2>3.0.CO;2-F
- Khambhati, A. N., Medaglia, J. D., Karuza, E. A., Thompson-Schill, S. L., & Bassett, D. S. (2018). Subgraphs of functional brain networks identify dynamical constraints of cognitive control. *PLOS* Computational Biology, 14(7), e1006234. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1006234
- Khundakar, A., Morris, C., Oakley, A., & Thomas, A. J. (2011). Morphometric Analysis of Neuronal and Glial Cell Pathology in the Caudate Nucleus in Late-Life Depression. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 19(2), 132–141. https://doi.org/10.1097/JGP.0b013e3181df4642
- Kilb, W. (2012). Development of the GABAergic System from Birth to Adolescence. *The Neuroscientist*, *18*(6), 613–630. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858411422114
- Kim, B., & Im, H.-I. (2019). The role of the dorsal striatum in choice impulsivity. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1451(1), 92–111. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.13961
- Kraguljac, N. V., White, D. M., Hadley, N., Hadley, J. A., ver Hoef, L., Davis, E., & Lahti, A. C. (2016). Aberrant Hippocampal Connectivity in Unmedicated Patients With Schizophrenia and Effects of Antipsychotic Medication: A Longitudinal Resting State Functional MRI Study. Schizophrenia Bulletin, 42(4), 1046–1055. https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbv228
- Krug, S., Müller, T., Kayali, Ö., Leichter, E., Peschel, S. K. V., Jahn, N., Winter, L., Krüger, T. H. C., Kahl, K. G., Sinke, C., & Heitland, I. (2022). Altered functional connectivity in common resting-state networks in patients with major depressive disorder: A resting-state

functional connectivity study. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 155, 33–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2022.07.040

- Ladouceur, C. D. (2012). Neural systems supporting cognitive-affective interactions in adolescence: The role of puberty and implications for affective disorders. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2012.00065
- Ladouceur, C. D., Kerestes, R., Schlund, M. W., Shirtcliff, E. A., Lee, Y., & Dahl, R. E. (2019). Neural systems underlying reward cue processing in early adolescence: The role of puberty and pubertal hormones. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *102*, 281–291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2018.12.016
- Lam, N. H., Borduqui, T., Hallak, J., Roque, A., Anticevic, A., Krystal, J. H., Wang, X.-J., & Murray, J. D. (2022). Effects of Altered Excitation-Inhibition Balance on Decision Making in a Cortical Circuit Model. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 42(6), 1035–1053. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1371-20.2021
- Landau, S. M., Lal, R., O'Neil, J. P., Baker, S., & Jagust, W. J. (2009). Striatal Dopamine and Working Memory. *Cerebral Cortex*, 19(2), 445–454. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhn095
- Larsen, B., Cui, Z., Adebimpe, A., Pines, A., Alexander-Bloch, A., Bertolero, M., Calkins, M. E., Gur, R. E., Gur, R. C., Mahadevan, A. S., Moore, T. M., Roalf, D. R., Seidlitz, J., Sydnor, V. J., Wolf, D. H., & Satterthwaite, T. D. (2021). A Developmental Reduction of the Excitation:Inhibition Ratio in Association Cortex during Adolescence. *BioRxiv*, 2021.05.19.444703. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.05.19.444703
- Larsen, B., & Luna, B. (2015). In vivo evidence of neurophysiological maturation of the human adolescent striatum. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 12, 74–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2014.12.003
- Larsen, B., & Luna, B. (2018). Adolescence as a neurobiological critical period for the development of higher-order cognition. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 94, 179– 195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.09.005
- Larsen, B., Olafsson, V., Calabro, F., Laymon, C., Tervo-Clemmens, B., Campbell, E., Minhas, D., Montez, D., Price, J., & Luna, B. (2020). Maturation of the human striatal dopamine system revealed by PET and quantitative MRI. *Nature Communications*, 11(1), 846. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-14693-3
- Lavalaye, J., Booij, J., Reneman, L., Habraken, J. B. A., & van Royen, E. A. (2000). Effect of age and gender on dopamine transporter imaging with [1231]FP-CIT SPET in healthy volunteers. *European Journal of Nuclear Medicine*, 27(7), 867–869. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002590000279
- Lawrence, K., Campbell, R., & Skuse, D. (2015). Age, gender, and puberty influence the development of facial emotion recognition. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00761
- Lebel, C., Walker, L., Leemans, A., Phillips, L., & Beaulieu, C. (2008). Microstructural maturation of the human brain from childhood to adulthood. *NeuroImage*, *40*(3), 1044–1055.
- Lebron-Milad, K., Graham, B. M., & Milad, M. R. (2012). Low estradiol levels: A vulnerability factor for the development of posttraumatic stress disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, 72(1), 6–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.04.029
- Levar, N., van Leeuwen, J. M. C., Denys, D., & van Wingen, G. A. (2017). Divergent influences of anterior cingulate cortex GABA concentrations on the emotion circuitry. *NeuroImage*, 158, 136–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.06.055
- Lewinsohn, P. M., Rohde, P., & Seeley, J. R. (1998). Major depressive disorder in older adolescents: Prevalence, risk factors, and clinical implications. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 18(7), 765–794. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0272-7358(98)00010-5
- Liang, Z., Valla, J., Sefidvash-Hockley, S., Rogers, J., & Li, R. (2002). Effects of estrogen treatment on glutamate uptake in cultured human astrocytes derived from cortex of Alzheimer's disease patients. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 80(5), 807–814. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0022-3042.2002.00779.x
- Lidow, M. S., Goldman-Rakic, P. S., Gallager, D. W., & Rakic, P. (1991). Distribution of dopaminergic receptors in the primate cerebral cortex: Quantitative autoradiographic analysis using [3H]raclopride, [3H]spiperone and [3H]sch23390. *Neuroscience*, 40(3), 657–671.
- Lidow, M. S., & Rakic, P. (1992). Scheduling of Monoaminergic Neurotransmitter Receptor Expression in the Primate Neocortex during Postnatal Development. *Cerebral Cortex*, 2(5), 401–416. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/2.5.401
- Long, M. A., Cruikshank, S. J., Jutras, M. J., & Connors, B. W. (2005). Abrupt maturation of a spike-synchronizing mechanism in neocortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 25(32), 7309–7316. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0375-05.2005
- Luna, B. (2009). Developmental changes in cognitive control through adolescence. *Advances in Child Development and Behavior*, *37*, 233–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2407(09)03706-9
- Luna, B., Marek, S., Larsen, B., Tervo-Clemmens, B., & Chahal, R. (2015). An integrative model of the maturation of cognitive control. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, *38*(1), 151–170. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-071714-034054
- Luna, B., & Wright, C. (2016). Adolescent brain development: Implications for the juvenile criminal justice system. In K. Heilbrun, D. DeMatteo, & N. E. S. Goldstein (Eds.), APA handbook of psychology and juvenile justice (pp. 91–116). American Psychological Association.

- Lustig, K. A., Cote, K. A., & Willoughby, T. (2021). The role of pubertal status and sleep satisfaction in emotion reactivity and regulation in children and adolescents. *SLEEP Advances*, 2(1), zpab003. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleepadvances/zpab003
- Majewska, M. D., Harrison, N. L., Schwartz, R. D., Barker, J. L., & Paul, S. M. (1986). Steroid hormone metabolites are barbiturate-like modulators of the GABA receptor. *Science*, 232(4753), 1004–1007.
- Manuck, S. B., Marsland, A. L., Flory, J. D., Gorka, A., Ferrell, R. E., & Hariri, A. R. (2010). Salivary testosterone and a trinucleotide (CAG) length polymorphism in the androgen receptor gene predict amygdala reactivity in men. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 35(1), 94– 104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2009.04.013
- Marek, S., Tervo-Clemmens, B., Klein, N., Foran, W., Ghuman, A. S., & Luna, B. (2018). Adolescent development of cortical oscillations: Power, phase, and support of cognitive maturation. *PLoS Biology*, *16*(11), e2004188. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2004188

- Meffre, D., Labombarda, F., Delespierre, B., Chastre, A., De Nicola, A. F., Stein, D. G., Schumacher, M., & Guennoun, R. (2013). Distribution of membrane progesterone receptor alpha in the male mouse and rat brain and its regulation after traumatic brain injury. *Neuroscience*, 231, 111–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.11.039
- Mendle, J. (2014). Why Puberty Matters for Psychopathology. *Child Development Perspectives*, 8(4), 218–222. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12092
- Mendle, J., Harden, K. P., Brooks-Gunn, J., & Graber, J. A. (2010). Development's Tortoise and Hare: Pubertal Timing, Pubertal Tempo, and Depressive Symptoms in Boys and Girls. *Developmental Psychology*, 46(5), 1341–1353. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020205
- Meyer, D. A., Carta, M., Partridge, L. D., Covey, D. F., & Valenzuela, C. F. (2002). Neurosteroids Enhance Spontaneous Glutamate Release in Hippocampal Neurons: POSSIBLE ROLE OF METABOTROPIC c1-LIKE RECEPTORS \*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(32), 28725–28732. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M202592200
- Micevych, P. E., & Mermelstein, P. G. (2008). Membrane Estrogen Receptors Acting Through Metabotropic Glutamate Receptors: An Emerging Mechanism of Estrogen Action in Brain. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 38(1), 66. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-008-8034-z
- Mizoguchi, K., Shoji, H., Tanaka, Y., Maruyama, W., & Tabira, T. (2009). Age-related spatial working memory impairment is caused by prefrontal cortical dopaminergic dysfunction in

rats. *Neuroscience*, *162*(4), 1192–1201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.05.023

- Moore, W. E., Pfeifer, J. H., Masten, C. L., Mazziotta, J. C., Iacoboni, M., & Dapretto, M. (2012). Facing puberty: Associations between pubertal development and neural responses to affective facial displays. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 7(1), 35–43. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsr066
- Morris, N. M., & Udry, J. R. (1980). Validation of a self-administered instrument to assess stage of adolescent development. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 271(280).
- Morrison, M. F., Kallan, M. J., Ten Have, T., Katz, I., Tweedy, K., & Battistini, M. (2004). Lack of efficacy of estradiol for depression in postmenopausal women: A randomized, controlled trial. *Biological Psychiatry*, 55(4), 406–412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2003.08.011
- Murphy, D. D., Cole, N. B., Greenberger, V., & Segal, M. (1998). Estradiol Increases Dendritic Spine Density by Reducing GABA Neurotransmission in Hippocampal Neurons. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 18(7), 2550–2559. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.18-07-02550.1998
- Murty, V. P., Calabro, F., & Luna, B. (2016). The role of experience in adolescent cognitive development: Integration of executive, memory, and mesolimbic systems. *Neuroscience* and Biobehavioral Reviews, 70, 46–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.07.034
- Naderi, A., Asgari, A. R., Zahed, R., Ghanbari, A., Samandari, R., & Jorjani, M. (2014). Estradiol attenuates spinal cord injury-related central pain by decreasing glutamate levels in thalamic VPL nucleus in male rats. *Metabolic Brain Disease*, 29(3), 763–770. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11011-014-9570-z
- Nguyen, T.-V., Jones, S. L., Gower, T., Lew, J., Albaugh, M. D., Botteron, K. N., Hudziak, J. J., Fonov, V. S., Louis Collins, D., Campbell, B. C., Booij, L., Herba, C. M., Monnier, P., Ducharme, S., Waber, D., & McCracken, J. T. (2019). Age-specific associations between oestradiol, cortico-amygdalar structural covariance, and verbal and spatial skills. *Journal* of Neuroendocrinology, 31(4), e12698. https://doi.org/10.1111/jne.12698
- O'Carroll, R. E. (1984). Androgen administration to hypogonadal and eugonadal men—Effects on measures of sensation seeking, personality and spatial ability. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 5(5), 595–598. https://doi.org/10.1016/0191-8869(84)90035-7
- O'Donnell, P. (2010). Adolescent maturation of cortical dopamine. *Neurotoxicity Research*, *18*(3–4), 306–312. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12640-010-9157-3
- O'Gorman, R. L., Michels, L., Edden, R. A., Murdoch, J. B., & Martin, E. (2011). In vivo detection of GABA and glutamate with MEGA-PRESS: Reproducibility and gender effects. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, *33*(5), 1262–1267. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmri.22520

- Ojha, A., Parr, A. C., Foran, W., Calabro, F. J., & Luna, B. (2022). Puberty contributes to adolescent development of fronto-striatal functional connectivity supporting inhibitory control. bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.05.02.490303
- Oldehinkel, A. J., Verhulst, F. C., & Ormel, J. (2011). Mental health problems during puberty: Tanner stage-related differences in specific symptoms. The TRAILS study. *Journal of Adolescence*, 34(1), 73–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2010.01.010
- Ordaz, S. J., Foran, W., Velanova, K., & Luna, B. (2013). Longitudinal growth curves of brain function underlying inhibitory control through adolescence. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(46), 18109–18124. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1741-13.2013
- Ordaz, S. J., Fritz, B. L., Forbes, E. E., & Luna, B. (2018). The influence of pubertal maturation on antisaccade performance. *Developmental Science*, 21(3), e12568. https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12568
- Österlund, M. K., G.J.M. Kuiper, G., Gustafsson, J.-Å., & Hurd, Y. L. (1998). Differential distribution and regulation of estrogen receptor-α and -β mRNA within the female rat brain. *Molecular Brain Research*, 54(1), 175–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-328X(97)00351-3
- Österlund, M. K., Gustafsson, J.-Å., Keller, E., & Hurd, Y. L. (2000). Estrogen Receptor β (ERβ) Messenger Ribonucleic Acid (mRNA) Expression within the Human Forebrain: Distinct Distribution Pattern to ERα mRNA. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 85(10), 3840–3846. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.85.10.6913
- Österlund, M. K., & Hurd, Y. L. (2001). Estrogen receptors in the human forebrain and the relation to neuropsychiatric disorders. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 64(3), 251–267. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-0082(00)00059-9
- Österlund, M. K., Keller, E., & Hurd, Y. L. (1999). The human forebrain has discrete estrogen receptor α messenger RNA expression: High levels in the amygdaloid complex. *Neuroscience*, *95*(2), 333–342. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(99)00443-1
- Ovtscharoff, W., Eusterschulte, B., Zienecker, R., Reisert, I., & Pilgrim, C. (1992). Sex differences in densities of dopaminergic fibers and GABAergic neurons in the prenatal rat striatum. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 323(2), 299–304. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.903230212
- Owen, J. A. (1975). Physiology of the menstrual cycle. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 28, 333–338.
- Pan, J. (2019, June). Age-Related Changes in the Effects of Self-Reported Emotional Regulation on Distress Resilience from Adolescence to Adulthood [Poster]. UPMC Department of Psychiatry Research Day, Pittsburgh, PA.

- Pan, J. W., Avdievich, N., & Hetherington, H. P. (2010). J-refocused coherence transfer spectroscopic imaging at 7 T in human brain. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*, 64(5), 1237–1246. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.22534
- Parker, L. N. (1991). Adrenarche. *Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinics of North America*, 20(1), 71–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0889-8529(18)30282-2
- Parr, A. C., Calabro, F., Larsen, B., Tervo-Clemmens, B., Elliot, S., Foran, W., Olafsson, V., & Luna, B. (2021). Dopamine-related striatal neurophysiology is associated with specialization of frontostriatal reward circuitry through adolescence. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 201, 101997. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2021.101997
- Patel, A. X., Kundu, P., Rubinov, M., Jones, P. S., Vértes, P. E., Ersche, K. D., Suckling, J., & Bullmore, E. T. (2014). A wavelet method for modeling and despiking motion artifacts from resting-state fMRI time series. *NeuroImage*, 95, 287–304. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.03.012
- Paus, T., Keshavan, M., & Giedd, J. N. (2008). Why do many psychiatric disorders emerge during adolescence? *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 9(12), 947–957. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2513
- Péran, P., Cherubini, A., Luccichenti, G., Hagberg, G., Démonet, J.-F., Rascol, O., Celsis, P., Caltagirone, C., Spalletta, G., & Sabatini, U. (2009). Volume and iron content in basal ganglia and thalamus. *Human Brain Mapping*, 30(8), 2667–2675. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.20698
- Pérez-Neri, I., Méndez-Sánchez, I., Montes, S., & Ríos, C. (2008). Acute dehydroepiandrosterone treatment exerts different effects on dopamine and serotonin turnover ratios in the rat corpus striatum and nucleus accumbens. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 32(6), 1584–1589. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2008.06.002
- Perica, M. I., Calabro, F. J., Larsen, B., Foran, W., Yushmanov, V. E., Hetherington, H., Tervo-Clemmens, B., Moon, C.-H., & Luna, B. (2022). Development of frontal GABA and glutamate supports excitation/inhibition balance from adolescence into adulthood. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 219, 102370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2022.102370
- Perlman, W. R., Matsumoto, M., Beltaifa, S., Hyde, T. M., Saunders, R. C., Webster, M. J., Rubinow, D. R., Kleinman, J. E., & Weickert, C. S. (2005). Expression of estrogen receptor alpha exon-deleted mRNA variants in the human and non-human primate frontal cortex. *Neuroscience*, 134(1), 81–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2005.03.055
- Petersen, A. C., Crockett, L., Richards, M., & Boxer, A. (1988). A self-report measure of pubertal status: Reliability, validity, and initial norms. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 17(2), 117–133. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01537962
- Peterson, E. T., Kwon, D., Luna, B., Larsen, B., Prouty, D., Bellis, M. D. D., Voyvodic, J., Liu, C., Li, W., Pohl, K. M., Sullivan, E. V., & Pfefferbaum, A. (2019). Distribution of brain

iron accrual in adolescence: Evidence from cross-sectional and longitudinal analysis. *Human Brain Mapping*, 40(5), 1480–1495. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.24461

- Pfeifer, J. H., & Blakemore, S.-J. (2012). Adolescent social cognitive and affective neuroscience: Past, present, and future. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 7(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsr099
- Pfeifer, J. H., Masten, C. L., Moore, W. E., Oswald, T. M., Mazziotta, J. C., Iacoboni, M., & Dapretto, M. (2011). Entering adolescence: Resistance to peer influence, risky behavior, and neural changes in emotion reactivity. *Neuron*, 69(5), 1029–1036. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.02.019
- Piekarski, D. J., Boivin, J. R., & Wilbrecht, L. (2017). Ovarian Hormones Organize the Maturation of Inhibitory Neurotransmission in the Frontal Cortex at Puberty Onset in Female Mice. *Current Biology: CB*, 27(12), 1735-1745.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.05.027
- Piekarski, D. J., Johnson, C. M., Boivin, J. R., Thomas, A. W., Lin, W. C., Delevich, K., M. Galarce, E., & Wilbrecht, L. (2017). Does puberty mark a transition in sensitive periods for plasticity in the associative neocortex? *Brain Research*, 1654, 123–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2016.08.042
- Pitskel, N. B., Bolling, D. Z., Kaiser, M. D., Crowley, M. J., & Pelphrey, K. A. (2011). How grossed out are you? The neural bases of emotion regulation from childhood to adolescence. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 1(3), 324–337. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2011.03.004
- Pletzer, B., Winkler-Crepaz, K., & Maria Hillerer, K. (2023). Progesterone and contraceptive progestin actions on the brain: A systematic review of animal studies and comparison to human neuroimaging studies. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, 69, 101060. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2023.101060
- Porter, L. L., Rizzo, E., & Hornung, J. P. (1999). Dopamine affects parvalbumin expression during cortical development in vitro. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 19(20), 8990–9003.
- Price, R. B., Tervo-Clemmens, B. C., Panny, B., Degutis, M., Griffo, A., & Woody, M. (2021). Biobehavioral correlates of an fMRI index of striatal tissue iron in depressed patients. *Translational Psychiatry*, 11(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-021-01553-x
- Purves-Tyson, T. D., Handelsman, D. J., Double, K. L., Owens, S. J., Bustamante, S., & Weickert, C. S. (2012). Testosterone regulation of sex steroid-related mRNAs and dopamine-related mRNAs in adolescent male rat substantia nigra. *BMC Neuroscience*, 13(1), 95. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2202-13-95
- Purves-Tyson, T. D., Owens, S. J., Double, K. L., Desai, R., Handelsman, D. J., & Weickert, C. S. (2014). Testosterone Induces Molecular Changes in Dopamine Signaling Pathway Molecules in the Adolescent Male Rat Nigrostriatal Pathway. *PLOS ONE*, 9(3), e91151. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0091151

- R Core Team. (2020). *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.R-project.org/
- Ravindranath, O. (2019). Contributions of Changes in GABA & Glutamate Levels to Emotion Processing Through Adolescence [Poster]. Organization for Human Brain Mapping, Rome.
- Ravindranath, O., Calabro, F. J., Foran, W., & Luna, B. (2022). Pubertal development underlies optimization of inhibitory control through specialization of ventrolateral prefrontal cortex. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 58, 101162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2022.101162
- Reddy, D. S., & Jian, K. (2010). The Testosterone-Derived Neurosteroid Androstanediol Is a Positive Allosteric Modulator of GABAA Receptors. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 334(3), 1031–1041. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.110.169854
- Reding, K. M., Wei, S.-M., Martinez, P. E., Nguyen, T.-V., Gregory, M. D., Kippenhan, J. S., Kohn, P. D., Soldin, S. J., Nieman, L. K., Yanovski, J. A., Schmidt, P. J., & Berman, K. F. (2021). The NIMH Intramural Longitudinal Study of the Endocrine and Neurobiological Events Accompanying Puberty: Protocol and Rationale for . *NeuroImage*, 234, 117970. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2021.117970
- Rehbein, E., Kogler, L., Hornung, J., Morawetz, C., Bayer, J., Krylova, M., Sundström-Poromaa, I., & Derntl, B. (2021). Estradiol administration modulates neural emotion regulation. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 134, 105425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2021.105425
- Rehman, K. S., & Carr, B. R. (2004). Sex Differences in Adrenal Androgens. Seminars in Reproductive Medicine, 22(4), 349–360. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2004-861551
- Reilly, D. (2019). Gender can be a continuous variable, not just a categorical one: Comment on Hyde, Bigler, Joel, Tate, and van Anders (2019). *American Psychologist*, 74, 840–841. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000505
- Reynolds, C. R., & Kamphaus, R. W. (2005). Introduction to the Reynolds Intellectual Assessment Scales and the Reynolds Intellectual Screening Test. In *Contemporary Intellectual Assessment: Theories, Tests, and Issues* (pp. 461–483). The Guilford Press.
- Riddle, J., Ahn, S., McPherson, T., Girdler, S., & Frohlich, F. (2020). Progesterone modulates theta oscillations in the frontal-parietal network. *Psychophysiology*, 57(10), e13632. https://doi.org/10.1111/psyp.13632
- Rideaux, R. (2021). No balance between glutamate+glutamine and GABA+ in visual or motor cortices of the human brain: A magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. *NeuroImage*, 237, 118191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2021.118191

- Romer, D., & Hennessy, M. (2007). A Biosocial-Affect Model of Adolescent Sensation Seeking: The Role of Affect Evaluation and Peer-Group Influence in Adolescent Drug Use. *Prevention Science*, 8(2), 89. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-007-0064-7
- Romer, D., Reyna, V. F., & Satterthwaite, T. D. (2017). Beyond stereotypes of adolescent risk taking: Placing the adolescent brain in developmental context. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 27, 19–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2017.07.007
- Rosenberg, D. R., & Lewis, D. A. (1995). Postnatal maturation of the dopaminergic innervation of monkey prefrontal and motor cortices: A tyrosine hydroxylase immunohistochemical analysis. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *358*(3), 383–400.
- Rubinow, D. R., Johnson, S. L., Schmidt, P. J., Girdler, S., & Gaynes, B. (2015). Efficacy of Estradiol in Perimenopausal Depression: So Much Promise and so Few Answers. *Depression and Anxiety*, 32(8), 539–549. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22391
- Sawaguchi, T., & Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (1991). D1 dopamine receptors in prefrontal cortex: Involvement in working memory. *Science*, 251, 947–950.
- Sawyer, S. M., Azzopardi, P. S., Wickremarathne, D., & Patton, G. C. (2018). The age of adolescence. *The Lancet. Child & Adolescent Health*, 2(3), 223–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(18)30022-1
- Schulte, T., Hong, J.-Y., Sullivan, E. V., Pfefferbaum, A., Baker, F. C., Chu, W., Prouty, D., Kwon, D., Meloy, M. J., Brumback, T., Tapert, S. F., Colrain, I. M., & Müller-Oehring, E. M. (2020). Effects of age, sex, and puberty on neural efficiency of cognitive and motor control in adolescents. *Brain Imaging and Behavior*, 14(4), 1089–1107. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-019-00075-x
- Schumacher, M., Hussain, R., Gago, N., Oudinet, J.-P., Mattern, C., & Ghoumari, A. (2012).
   Progesterone Synthesis in the Nervous System: Implications for Myelination and Myelin
   Repair. Frontiers in Neuroscience, 6.
   https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fnins.2012.00010
- Schumacher, M., Mattern, C., Ghoumari, A., Oudinet, J. P., Liere, P., Labombarda, F., Sitruk-Ware, R., De Nicola, A. F., & Guennoun, R. (2014). Revisiting the roles of progesterone and allopregnanolone in the nervous system: Resurgence of the progesterone receptors. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 113, 6–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2013.09.004
- Sells, C. W., & Blum, R. W. (1996). Morbidity and mortality among US adolescents: An overview of data and trends. *American Journal of Public Health*, *86*(4), 513–519. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.86.4.513
- Shealy, C. N. (1995). A review of dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA). *Integrative Physiological and Behavioral Science*, *30*(4), 308–313. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02691603

- Shen, H., Gong, Q. H., Aoki, C., Yuan, M., Ruderman, Y., Dattilo, M., Williams, K., & Smith, S. S. (2007). Reversal of neurosteroid effects at α4β2δ GABAA receptors triggers anxiety at puberty. *Nature Neuroscience*, 10(4), Article 4. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1868
- Sherman, B. M., & Korenman, S. G. (1975). Hormonal characteristics of the human menstrual cycle throughout reproductive life. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 55(4), 699–706. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI107979
- Shim, K. S. (2015). Pubertal growth and epiphyseal fusion. *Annals of Pediatric Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 20(1), 8–12. https://doi.org/10.6065/apem.2015.20.1.8
- Shirtcliff, E. A., Dahl, R. E., & Pollak, S. D. (2009). Pubertal development: Correspondence between hormonal and physical development. *Child Development*, 80(2), 327–337.
- Short, S. J., Stalder, T., Marceau, K., Entringer, S., Moog, N. K., Shirtcliff, E. A., Wadhwa, P. D., & Buss, C. (2016). Correspondence between hair cortisol concentrations and 30-day integrated daily salivary and weekly urinary cortisol measures. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 71, 12–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.05.007
- Shulman, E. P., Smith, A. R., Silva, K., Icenogle, G., Duell, N., Chein, J., & Steinberg, L. (2016). The dual systems model: Review, reappraisal, and reaffirmation. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 17, 103–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2015.12.010
- Siegel, J. S., Power, J. D., Dubis, J. W., Vogel, A. C., Church, J. A., Schlaggar, B. L., & Petersen, S. E. (2014). Statistical improvements in functional magnetic resonance imaging analyses produced by censoring high-motion data points. *Human Brain Mapping*, 35(5), 1981– 1996. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22307
- Silk, J. S., Forbes, E. E., Whalen, D. J., Jakubcak, J. L., Thompson, W. K., Ryan, N. D., Axelson, D. A., Birmaher, B., & Dahl, R. E. (2011). Daily emotional dynamics in depressed youth: A cell phone ecological momentary assessment study. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 110(2), 241–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2010.10.007
- Silk, J. S., Siegle, G. J., Whalen, D. J., Ostapenko, L. J., Ladouceur, C. D., & Dahl, R. E. (2009). Pubertal Changes in Emotional Information Processing: Pupillary, Behavioral, and Subjective Evidence during Emotional Word Identification. *Development and Psychopathology*, 21(1), 7–26. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579409000029
- Silveri, M. M., Sneider, J. T., Crowley, D. J., Covell, M. J., Acharya, D., Rosso, I. M., & Jensen, J. E. (2013). Frontal Lobe γ-Aminobutyric Acid Levels During Adolescence: Associations with Impulsivity and Response Inhibition. *Biological Psychiatry*, 74(4), 296–304. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.01.033
- Simmonds, D. J., Hallquist, M. N., Asato, M., & Luna, B. (2014). Developmental stages and sex differences of white matter and behavioral development through adolescence: A longitudinal diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) study. *NeuroImage*, 92, 356–368. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.12.044

- Simons, J. S., & Gaher, R. M. (2005). The Distress Tolerance Scale: Development and Validation of a Self-Report Measure. *Motivation and Emotion*, 29(2), 83–102. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-005-7955-3
- Sinclair, D., Purves-Tyson, T. D., Allen, K. M., & Weickert, C. S. (2014). Impacts of stress and sex hormones on dopamine neurotransmission in the adolescent brain. *Psychopharmacology*, 231(8), 1581–1599. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-013-3415-z
- Söderpalm, A. H. V., Lindsey, S., Purdy, R. H., Hauger, R., & de Wit, H. (2004). Administration of progesterone produces mild sedative-like effects in men and women. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 29(3), 339–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4530(03)00033-7
- Sohal, V. S., & Rubenstein, J. L. R. (2019). Excitation-inhibition balance as a framework for investigating mechanisms in neuropsychiatric disorders. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 24(9), 1248–1257. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-019-0426-0
- Soma, K. K., Rendon, N. M., Boonstra, R., Albers, H. E., & Demas, G. E. (2015). DHEA effects on brain and behavior: Insights from comparative studies of aggression. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 145, 261–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsbmb.2014.05.011
- Söndergaard, H. P., Hansson, L.-O., & Theorell, T. (2002). Elevated Blood Levels of Dehydroepiandrosterone Sulphate Vary with Symptom Load in Posttraumatic Stress Disorder: Findings from a Longitudinal Study of Refugees in Sweden. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 71(5), 298–303. https://doi.org/10.1159/000064806
- Spivak, C. E. (1994). Desensitization and noncompetitive blockade of GABAA receptors in ventral midbrain neurons by a neurosteroid dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate. *Synapse*, 16(2), 113–122. https://doi.org/10.1002/syn.890160205
- Sprekeler, H. (2017). Functional consequences of inhibitory plasticity: Homeostasis, the excitation-inhibition balance and beyond. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 43, 198–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2017.03.014
- Spurny-Dworak, B., Handschuh, P., Spies, M., Kaufmann, U., Seiger, R., Klöbl, M., Konadu, M. E., Reed, M. B., Ritter, V., Baldinger-Melich, P., Bogner, W., Kranz, G. S., & Lanzenberger, R. (2022). Effects of sex hormones on brain GABA and glutamate levels in a cis- and transgender cohort. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *138*, 105683. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2022.105683
- Sripada, R. K., Marx, C. E., King, A. P., Rajaram, N., Garfinkel, S. N., Abelson, J. L., & Liberzon, I. (2013). DHEA Enhances Emotion Regulation Neurocircuits and Modulates Memory for Emotional Stimuli. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 38(9), Article 9. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2013.79
- Sripada, R. K., Marx, C. E., King, A. P., Rampton, J. C., Ho, S. S., & Liberzon, I. (2013). Allopregnanolone Elevations Following Pregnenolone Administration Are Associated

with Enhanced Activation of Emotion Regulation Neurocircuits. *Biological Psychiatry*, 73(11), 1045–1053. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.12.008

- Staley, J. K., Krishnan-Sarin, S., Zoghbi, S., Tamagnan, G., Fujita, M., Seibyl, J. P., Maciejewski, P. K., O'Malley, S., & Innis, R. B. (2001). Sex differences in [123I]β-CIT SPECT measures of dopamine and serotonin transporter availability in healthy smokers and nonsmokers. *Synapse*, 41(4), 275–284. https://doi.org/10.1002/syn.1084
- Steel, A., Mikkelsen, M., Edden, R. A. E., & Robertson, C. E. (2020). Regional balance between glutamate+glutamine and GABA+ in the resting human brain. *NeuroImage*, 220, 117112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2020.117112
- Steinberg, L. (2008). A social neuroscience perspective on adolescent risk-taking. Developmental Review, 28(1), 78–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2007.08.002
- Strous, R. D., Maayan, R., Lapidus, R., Stryjer, R., Lustig, M., Kotler, M., & Weizman, A. (2003). Dehydroepiandrosterone Augmentation in the Management of Negative, Depressive, and Anxiety Symptoms in Schizophrenia. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 60(2), 133–141. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.60.2.133
- Styne, D. M., & Grumbach, M. M. (2002). Puberty in Boys and Girls. In D. W. Pfaff, A. P. Arnold, S. E. Fahrbach, A. M. Etgen, & R. T. Rubin (Eds.), *Hormones, Brain and Behavior* (pp. 661–716). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012532104-4/50078-0
- Styne, D. M., Grumbach, M. M., Styne, J., & Melvin, M. (2008). Puberty: Ontogeny, neuroendocrinology, physiology and disorders. https://www.scienceopen.com/document?vid=b8614c36-9ce7-4fb0-8290-9c4ea09dfc0b
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2009). *Results from the 2009 national survey on drug use and health: Volume I. Summary of national findings* (HHS Publication No. SMA 10-4856Findings; NSDUH Series H-38A, p. 104). Office of Applied Studies, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.
- Sun, J., Walker, A. J., Dean, B., van den Buuse, M., & Gogos, A. (2016). Progesterone: The neglected hormone in schizophrenia? A focus on progesterone-dopamine interactions. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 74, 126–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.08.019
- Susman, E. J., Dorn, L. D., & Chrousos, G. P. (1991). Negative affect and hormone levels in young adolescents: Concurrent and predictive perspectives. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 20(2), 167–190. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01537607
- Taber, K. H., Black, D. N., Porrino, L. J., & Hurley, R. A. (2012). Neuroanatomy of Dopamine: Reward and Addiction. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 24(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.neuropsych.24.1.1
- Telzer, E. H., Flannery, J., Humphreys, K. L., Goff, B., Gabard-Durman, L., Gee, D. G., & Tottenham, N. (2015). "The Cooties Effect": Amygdala Reactivity to Opposite- versus

Same-sex Faces Declines from Childhood to Adolescence. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 27(9), 1685–1696. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn\_a\_00813

- Toffoletto, S., Lanzenberger, R., Gingnell, M., Sundström-Poromaa, I., & Comasco, E. (2014). Emotional and cognitive functional imaging of estrogen and progesterone effects in the female human brain: A systematic review. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 50, 28–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.07.025
- Toren, P., Sadeh, M., Wolmer, L., Eldar, S., Koren, S., Weizman, R., & Laor, N. (2000). Neurocognitive Correlates of Anxiety Disorders in Children: A Preliminary Report. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 14(3), 239–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0887-6185(99)00036-5
- Tseng, K. Y., & O'Donnell, P. (2004). Dopamine-glutamate interactions controlling prefrontal cortical pyramidal cell excitability involve multiple signaling mechanisms. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(22), 5131–5139.
- Tyborowska, A., Volman, I., Smeekens, S., Toni, I., & Roelofs, K. (2016). Testosterone during Puberty Shifts Emotional Control from Pulvinar to Anterior Prefrontal Cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 36(23), 6156–6164. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3874-15.2016
- Umorin, M., Bellinger, L., & Kramer, P. (2014). Menstrual cycle change in thalamic glutamate decarboxylase and GABA in response to TMJ pain in rats (726.4). *The FASEB Journal*, 28(S1), 726.4. https://doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.28.1\_supplement.726.4
- Umorin, M., Stinson, C., Bellinger, L. L., & Kramer, P. R. (2016). Genes in the GABA Pathway Increase in the Lateral Thalamus of Sprague–Dawley Rats During the Proestrus/Estrus Phase. Journal of Cellular Physiology, 231(5), 1057–1064. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.25198
- Urošević, S., Collins, P., Muetzel, R., Lim, K. O., & Luciana, M. (2014). Pubertal Status Associations with Reward and Threat Sensitivities and Subcortical Brain Volumes during Adolescence. *Brain and Cognition*, *89*, 15–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2014.01.007
- van den Bos, W., Rodriguez, C. A., Schweitzer, J. B., & McClure, S. M. (2015). Adolescent impatience decreases with increased frontostriatal connectivity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *112*(29), E3765–E3774. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1423095112
- van Duijvenvoorde, A. C. K., Westhoff, B., de Vos, F., Wierenga, L. M., & Crone, E. A. (2019). A three-wave longitudinal study of subcortical-cortical resting-state connectivity in adolescence: Testing age- and puberty-related changes. *Human Brain Mapping*, 40(13), 3769–3783. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.24630
- van Wingen, G. A., Zylicz, S. A., Pieters, S., Mattern, C., Verkes, R. J., Buitelaar, J. K., & Fernández, G. (2009). Testosterone Increases Amygdala Reactivity in Middle-Aged

Women to a Young Adulthood Level. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *34*(3), 539–547. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2008.2

- Varrone, A., Dickson, J. C., Tossici-Bolt, L., Sera, T., Asenbaum, S., Booij, J., Kapucu, O. L., Kluge, A., Knudsen, G. M., Koulibaly, P. M., Nobili, F., Pagani, M., Sabri, O., Vander Borght, T., Van Laere, K., & Tatsch, K. (2013). European multicentre database of healthy controls for [123I]FP-CIT SPECT (ENC-DAT): Age-related effects, gender differences and evaluation of different methods of analysis. *European Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging*, 40(2), 213–227. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00259-012-2276-8
- Velanova, K., Wheeler, M. E., & Luna, B. (2008). Maturational changes in anterior cingulate and frontoparietal recruitment support the development of error processing and inhibitory control. *Cerebral Cortex*, 18(11), 2505–2522. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhn012
- Velanova, K., Wheeler, M. E., & Luna, B. (2009). The maturation of task set-related activation supports late developmental improvements in inhibitory control. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(40), 12558–12567. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1579-09.2009
- Vijayakumar, N., Pfeifer, J. H., Flournoy, J. C., Hernandez, L. M., & Dapretto, M. (2019). Affective reactivity during adolescence: Associations with age, puberty and testosterone. *Cortex*, 117, 336–350. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2019.04.024
- Vlachou, S., & Markou, A. (2010). GABAB Receptors in Reward Processes. Advances in Pharmacology, 58, 315–371. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1054-3589(10)58013-X
- Vo, L. T. K., Walther, D. B., Kramer, A. F., Erickson, K. I., Boot, W. R., Voss, M. W., Prakash, R. S., Lee, H., Fabiani, M., Gratton, G., Simons, D. J., Sutton, B. P., & Wang, M. Y. (2011). Predicting Individuals' Learning Success from Patterns of Pre-Learning MRI Activity. *PLoS ONE*, 6(1), e16093. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0016093
- Vosberg, D. E., Syme, C., Parker, N., Richer, L., Pausova, Z., & Paus, T. (2020). Sex continuum in the brain and body during adolescence and psychological traits. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-020-00968-8
- Wang, W., Dammen, L. van, Moody, S. N., Kiesner, J., Neiderhiser, J. M., Dismukes, A., Zhu, J., Constantinidis, C., & Shirtcliff, E. A. (2020). *The validation of estradiol extraction and analysis from hair*. PsyArXiv. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/knuxs
- Wang, W., Moody, S. N., Kiesner, J., Tonon Appiani, A., Robertson, O. C., & Shirtcliff, E. A. (2019). Assay validation of hair androgens across the menstrual cycle. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 101, 175–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2018.10.029
- Watson, D., Clark, C., & Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of postive and negative affect: The PANAS scales. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 54(6), 1063–1070.

- Weiland, N. G. (1992). Estradiol selectively regulates agonist binding sites on the N-methyl-Daspartate receptor complex in the CA1 region of the hippocampus. *Endocrinology*, *131*(2), 662–668. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo.131.2.1353442
- Weissman, M. M., & Olfson, M. (1995). Depression in Women: Implications for Health Care Research. Science, 269(5225), 799–801. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7638596
- Wheeler, M. D. (1991). Physical changes of puberty. *Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinics of North America*, 20(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0889-8529(18)30279-2
- White, R. M. B., Deardorff, J., & Gonzales, N. A. (2012). Contextual Amplification or Attenuation of Pubertal Timing Effects on Depressive Symptoms among Mexican American Girls. *The Journal of Adolescent Health*, 50(6), 565–571. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2011.10.006
- Willing, J., & Juraska, J. M. (2015). The timing of neuronal loss across adolescence in the medial prefrontal cortex of male and female rats. *Neuroscience*, 301, 268–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.05.073
- Winter, S., Dieckmann, M., & Schwabe, K. (2009). Dopamine in the prefrontal cortex regulates rats behavioral flexibility to changing reward value. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 198(1), 206–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2008.10.040
- Wise, R. A. (2004). Dopamine, learning and motivation. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 5(6), 483–494. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1406
- Witchel, S. F., & Topaloglu, A. K. (2019). Puberty: Gonadarche and Adrenarche. In J. F. Strauss
  & R. L. Barbieri (Eds.), *Yen and Jaffe's Reproductive Endocrinology* (8th ed., pp. 394-446.e16). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-47912-7.00017-2
- Woolley, C. S., Weiland, N. G., McEwen, B. S., & Schwartzkroin, P. A. (1997). Estradiol Increases the Sensitivity of Hippocampal CA1 Pyramidal Cells to NMDA Receptor-Mediated Synaptic Input: Correlation with Dendritic Spine Density. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 17(5), 1848–1859. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.17-05-01848.1997
- Yu, W., Wu, X., Chen, Y., Liang, Z., Jiang, J., Misrani, A., Su, Y., Peng, Y., Chen, J., Tang, B., Sun, M., Long, C., Shen, J., & Yang, L. (2021). Pelvic Pain Alters Functional Connectivity Between Anterior Cingulate Cortex and Hippocampus in Both Humans and a Rat Model. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 15. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnsys.2021.642349
- Zahr, N. M., Mayer, D., Rohlfing, T., Chanraud, S., Gu, M., Sullivan, E. V., & Pfefferbaum, A. (2013). In vivo glutamate measured with magnetic resonance spectroscopy: Behavioral correlates in aging. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 34(4), 1265–1276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2012.09.014
- Zhang, W., Liu, X., Zhang, Y., Song, L., Hou, J., Chen, B., He, M., Cai, P., & Lii, H. (2014). Disrupted functional connectivity of the hippocampus in patients with hyperthyroidism:

Evidence from resting-state fMRI. *European Journal of Radiology*, 83(10), 1907–1913. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrad.2014.07.003

- Zheng, P. (2009). Neuroactive steroid regulation of neurotransmitter release in the CNS: Action, mechanism and possible significance. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 89(2), 134–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2009.07.001
- Zlotnik, A., Gruenbaum, B. F., Mohar, B., Kuts, R., Gruenbaum, S. E., Ohayon, S., Boyko, M., Klin, Y., Sheiner, E., Shaked, G., Shapira, Y., & Teichberg, V. I. (2011). The Effects of Estrogen and Progesterone on Blood Glutamate Levels: Evidence from Changes of Blood Glutamate Levels During the Menstrual Cycle in Women. *Biology of Reproduction*, 84(3), 581–586. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.110.088120
- Zuckerman, M. (1971). Dimensions of sensation seeking. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *36*(1), 45–52. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0030478
- Zuckerman, M., Buchsbaum, M. S., & Murphy, D. L. (1980). Sensation seeking and its biological correlates. *Psychological Bulletin*, 88(1), 187–214. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.88.1.187